NEw IssuE — Book-ENTRY ONLY RATING: S&P “BBB”
See “RATING”

Subject to compliance by the Issuer and the College with certain covenants, in the opinion of Chapman and Cutler
LLP, Bond Counsel, under present law, interest on the Series 2015 Bonds is excludable from gross income of the owners
thereof for federal income tax purposes and is not included as an item of tax preference in computing the alternative
minimum tax for individual and corporations, but such interest is taken into account in computing an adjustment
used in determining the federal alternative minimum tax for certain corporations. In the opinion of Bond Counsel,
under existing laws of the State of Utah as presently enacted and construed, interest on the Series 2015 Bonds is exempt
Srom taxes imposed by the Utah Individual Income Tax Act. See “Tax MATTERS” for a more detailed discussion.

$11,415,000
SALT LAKE COUNTY, UTAH
CoLLEGE REVENUE REFUNDING BONDS

(WESTMINSTER COLLEGE PROJECT),
SeriEs 2015

Dated: Date of Original Issuance Due: October 1, as shown below

The Series 2015 Bonds will be registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of The Depository Trust Company,
New York, New York, which will act as securities depository for the Series 2015 Bonds. Purchases of beneficial ownership
interests in the Series 2015 Bonds will be made in book-entry form, and purchasers will not receive certificates representing
their beneficial interests in the Series 2015 Bonds.

The Series 2015 Bonds will be issued as fully-registered bonds, in denominations of $5,000 or any integral multiple
thereof. Interest on the Series 2015 Bonds is payable semiannually each April 1 and October 1, beginning October 1, 2015.
The principal and redemption price of the Series 2015 Bonds will be payable at the corporate trust office of Wells Fargo Bank,
National Association, as trustee, in Salt Lake City, Utah. The Series 2015 Bonds are subject to redemption as described herein.

The Series 2015 Bonds are being issued for the benefit of Westminster College (the “College™) to refund certain of the
Issuer’s outstanding College Revenue and Refunding Bonds (Westminster College Project), Series 2005 and pay costs of
issuance of the Series 2015 Bonds.

The Series 2015 Bonds are limited obligations of the Issuer, payable solely from the revenues and amounts pledged for
the payment thereof under the Indenture, including amounts payable by the College under the Loan Agreement. The College’s
obligation to make payments under the Loan Agreement is complete and unconditional and is a general corporate obligation
of the College. The College agrees in the Loan Agreement to use any of its available funds to meet its payment obligations
thereunder.

THE STATE OF UTAH, SALT LAKE COUNTY, OR ANY POLITICAL SUBDIVISION OR AGENCY OF THE STATE IS NOT OBLIGATED TO PAY THE PRINCIPAL OF
OR INTEREST ON THE SERIES 2015 BONDS, AND NEITHER THE FAITH AND CREDIT NOR THE TAXING POWER OF THE STATE OF UTAH, SALT LAKE COUNTY
OR ANY OTHER POLITICAL CORPORATION, SUBDIVISION OR AGENCY OF THE STATE IS PLEDGED TO THE PAYMENT OF THE PRINCIPAL OF OR INTEREST ON THE
SEeries 2015 Bonbs.

MATURITY SCHEDULE

MATURITY  PRINCIPAL  INTEREST MATURITY  PRINCIPAL  INTEREST
(OcTOBER 1) AMOUNT RATE YIELD CUSIP  (OcCTOBER 1) AMOUNT RATE YIELD CusSsIP
2016* $ 685,000 2.000% 1.110%  79567P DM2 2023 $ 830,000 3.000%  3.136% 79567P DU4
2017 630,000 1.000 1.490 79567P DNO 2024 500,000 5.000 3.190 79567P DV2
2018 650,000 5.000 1.870 79567P DP5 2024 355,000 3.000 3.190 79567P EA7
2019 685,000 5.000 2.160 79567P DQ3 2026* 1,800,000 3.125 3.450 79567P DWO
2020 720,000 5.000 2.380 79567P DR1 2028 955,000 5.000 3.720f  79567P DX8
2021 755,000 5.000 2.630 79567P DS9 2029 1,005,000 5.000 3.8101  79567P DY6
2022 790,000 5.000 2.870 79567P DT7 2030 1,055,000 5.000 3.8707  79567P DZ3

* Term bond; see “Redemption - Sinking Fund Redemption” herein.
T Yield to par call on April 1, 2025

The Series 2015 Bonds are offered when, as, and if issued and received by the Underwriter, subject to approval of legality
by Chapman and Cutler LLP, Bond Counsel and Disclosure Counsel, and certain other conditions. Certain legal matters will be
passed upon for the Issuer by its Deputy District Attorney, and for the College by its General Counsel, Melissa Flores, Esq. It
is expected that the Series 2015 Bonds in definitive form will be available for delivery through the facilities of DTC on or about
April 21, 2015.

This Official Statement is dated March 17, 2015, and the information contained herein speaks only as of that date.

KeyBanc CapriTtAL MARKETS INc.



No dealer, broker, salesman or other person has been authorized by the Issuer, the
College or the Underwriter to give any information or to make any representations with respect
to the Series 2015 Bonds, other than those contained in this Official Statement, and, if given or
made, such other information or representations must not be relied upon as having been
authorized by the Issuer, the College or the Underwriter. This Official Statement does not
constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy, nor shall there be any sale of the
Series 2015 Bonds by any person, in any jurisdiction in which it is unlawful for such person to
make such offer, solicitation or sale.

The information set forth herein has been furnished by the Issuer, the College and DTC
and includes information obtained from other sources that are believed to be reliable. The
information and expressions of opinion contained herein are subject to change without notice and
neither the delivery of this Official Statement nor any sale made hereunder shall, under any
circumstances, create any implication that there has been no change in the affairs of the Issuer or
the College or any other person or entity discussed herein since the date hereof.

This Official Statement contains “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the
federal securities laws. These forward-looking statements include, among others, statements
concerning expectations, beliefs, opinions, future plans and strategies, anticipated events or
trends and similar expressions concerning matters that are not historical facts. The forward-
looking statements in this Official Statement are subject to risks and uncertainties that could
cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed in or implied by such statements.

The Underwriter has provided the following sentence for inclusion in this Official
Statement: The Underwriter has reviewed the information in this Official Statement in
accordance with, and as part of, its responsibilities to investors under the federal securities laws
as applied to the facts and circumstances of this transaction, but the Underwriter does not
guarantee the accuracy or completeness of such information.

In connection with the offering of the Series 2015 Bonds, the Underwriter may over-allot
or effect transactions which stabilize or maintain the market price of the Series 2015 Bonds at
levels above that which might otherwise prevail in the open market. Such stabilizing, if
commenced, may be discontinued at any time.

THE SERIES 2015 BONDS OFFERED HEREBY HAVE NOT BEEN APPROVED OR
DISAPPROVED BY THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION OR ANY STATE SECURITIES
COMMISSION, NOR HAS THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION OR ANY STATE
SECURITIES COMMISSION PASSED UPON THE ACCURACY OR ADEQUACY OF THIS OFFICIAL
STATEMENT. ANYREPRESENTATION TO THE CONTRARY IS A CRIMINAL OFFENSE.
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OFFICIAL STATEMENT

$11,415,000
SALT LAKE COUNTY, UTAH
COLLEGE REVENUE REFUNDING BONDS
(WESTMINSTER COLLEGE PROJECT)
SERIES 2015

INTRODUCTION

This Official Statement, including the cover page and appendices hereto, sets forth certain
information in connection with the issuance by Salt Lake County, Utah (the “Issuer”) of its College
Revenue Refunding Bonds (Westminster College Project) Series 2015 (the “Series 2015 Bonds”) in
the aggregate principal amount of $11,415,000. The Series 2015 Bonds are issued pursuant to the
Utah Industrial Facilities and Development Act and other applicable laws (collectively, the “Act”).
The Series 2015 Bonds will be issued and secured under a Trust Indenture dated as of April 1, 2015
(the “Indenture”) between the Issuer and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as trustee (the
“Trustee”).

The proceeds of the sale of the Series 2015 Bonds will be loaned by the Issuer to
Westminster College, a Utah nonprofit corporation (the “College”), pursuant to a Loan Agreement,
dated as of April 1, 2015 (the “Loan Agreement”), between the Issuer and the College. Pursuant to
the Loan Agreement, the College will issue a promissory note (the “Series 2015 Note”), payable to
the Issuer and evidencing the obligation of the College to repay the loan made under the Loan
Agreement in amounts sufficient to pay principal of and interest on the Series 2015 Bonds. The
obligation of the College to make payments under the Loan Agreement and the Series 2015 Note is a
general corporate obligation of the College. No property or other assets of the College have been
mortgaged or encumbered to secure the payment of the Series 2015 Bonds. See “SECURITY AND
SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE SERIES 2015 BONDS —The Loan Agreement and Series 2015 Note”
below for a description of the payment obligations of the College with respect to the Series 2015
Bonds.

THE SERIES 2015 BONDS CONSTITUTE LIMITED OBLIGATIONS OF THE ISSUER PAYABLE
SOLELY OUT OF THE REVENUES DERIVED BY THE ISSUER UNDER THE LOAN AGREEMENT AND DO
NOT CONSTITUTE A GENERAL OBLIGATION OR LIABILITY OF THE ISSUER NOR A CHARGE AGAINST
THE ISSUER’S GENERAL CREDIT OR TAXING POWERS, NOR ARE THEY OBLIGATIONS OF ANY KIND OF
THE STATE OF UTAH (THE “STATE”) OR ANY OTHER POLITICAL SUBDIVISION OR AGENCY THEREOF.

The proceeds of the Series 2015 Bonds, together with other available moneys, will be used to
(i) refund the $11,830,000 aggregate principal amount of the callable maturities (the “Refunded
Bonds”) of the Issuer’s College Revenue and Refunding Bonds (Westminster College Project),
Series 2005 (the “Series 2005 Bonds”) and (i1) pay costs of issuance of the Series 2015 Bonds. See
“PLAN OF REFUNDING” and “SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS” below.



The Issuer has previously issued the Series 2005 Bonds and its College Revenue and
Refunding Bonds (Westminster College Project), Series 2007 (“Series 2007 Bonds”) to provide
loans to the College to finance and refinance various projects for the benefit of the College. Upon
the issuance of the Series 2015 Bonds, the Series 2005 Bonds to remain outstanding upon the
refunding of the Refunded Bonds and the 2007 Bonds (collectively, the “Outstanding Bonds”) will
be outstanding in the aggregate principal amount of $15,160,000. The Outstanding Bonds have been
issued and secured under separate trust indentures (the “Outstanding Trust Indentures”) between the
Issuer and the Trustee, but the Series 2015 Bonds and the Outstanding Bonds are equally and ratably
secured by amounts on deposit in the Debt Service Reserve Fund. See “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF
PAYMENT FOR THE SERIES 2015 BONDS —Debt Service Reserve Fund.”

The College has entered into loan agreements (the “Outstanding Loan Agreements”) with the
Issuer with respect to the Outstanding Bonds, pursuant to which the College has issued its
promissory notes to evidence its obligation to pay the debt service requirements of the Outstanding
Bonds (the “Outstanding Promissory Notes”). The College’s payment obligations under the
Outstanding Promissory Notes are unsecured general corporate obligations of the College, and no
property or assets of the College has been mortgaged, encumbered or restricted to secure the
payment of any of such obligations.

The forms of the Loan Agreement and the Indenture are contained in this Official Statement
and in “APPENDIX C — FORMS OF THE BOND DOCUMENTS.” Capitalized terms not otherwise
defined herein have the meanings provided in the Indenture.

The Loan Agreement and the Outstanding Loan Agreements permit the College to incur
additional indebtedness. As of June 30, 2014, the College had $3,945,569 of Direct Obligations
(defined below) outstanding. See “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE SERIES 2015
BONDS — Additional Indebtedness—The Direct Obligations™ for a description of such other general
corporate debt obligations of the College.

THE SERIES 2015 BONDS

GENERAL

The Series 2015 Bonds will be dated the date of original issuance and delivery thereof (the
“Dated Date”) and will be issued in fully-registered form. The Series 2015 Bonds will be issued in
denominations of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof. Each Series 2015 Bond will bear interest
from and including the Dated Date, payable on each April 1 and October 1, commencing October 1,
2015. The Series 2015 Bonds will bear interest at the rates and will mature on the dates and in the
amounts set forth on the front cover page of this Official Statement and will be subject to redemption
as described below under “Redemption.”

BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY SYSTEM

The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”) will act as securities depository for the Series 2015
Bonds. The ownership of one fully-registered Series 2015 Bond for each stated maturity, each in the
aggregate principal amount of such stated maturity, will be registered in the name of Cede & Co., as
nominee for DTC.



DTC, the world’s largest depository, is a limited-purpose trust company organized under the
New York Banking Law, a “banking organization” within the meaning of the New York Banking
Law, a member of the Federal Reserve System, a “clearing corporation” within the meaning of the
New York Uniform Commercial Code, and a “clearing agency” registered pursuant to the provisions
of Section 17A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. DTC holds and provides asset servicing for
over 3.5 million issues of U.S. and non-U.S. equity issues, corporate and municipal debt issues, and
money market instruments from over 100 countries that DTC’s participants ( “Direct Participants”)
deposit with DTC. DTC also facilitates the post-trade settlement among Direct Participants of sales
and other securities transactions in deposited securities, through electronic computerized book-entry
transfers and pledges between Direct Participants’ accounts. This eliminates the need for physical
movement of securities certificates. Direct Participants include both U.S. and non-U.S. securities
brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing corporations, and certain other organizations.
DTC is a wholly-owned subsidiary of The Depository Trust & Clearing Corporation (“DTCC”).
DTCC, in turn, is owned by a number of Direct Participants of DTC and Members of the National
Securities Clearing Corporation, Fixed Income Clearing Corporation and Emerging Markets
Clearing Corporation (NSCC, FICC, and EMCC, also subsidiaries of DTCC), as well as by the New
York Stock Exchange, Inc., the American Stock Exchange LLC, and the National Association of
Securities Dealers, Inc. Access to the DTC system is also available to others such as both U.S. and
non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, and clearing corporations that clear
through or maintain a custodial relationship with a Direct Participant, either directly or indirectly
(“Indirect Participants”). DTC has Standard & Poor’s highest rating: AAA. The DTC rules
applicable to its Direct and Indirect Participants are on file with the Securities and Exchange
Commission. More information about DTC can be found at www.dtcc.com and www .dtc.org.

Purchases of the Series 2015 Bonds under the DTC system must be made by or through
Direct Participants, which will receive a credit for the Series 2015 Bonds on DTC’s records. The
ownership interest of each actual purchaser of each Series 2015 Bond (“Beneficial Owner”) is in
turn to be recorded on the Direct and Indirect Participants’ records. Beneficial Owners will not
receive written confirmation from DTC of their purchase. Beneficial Owners are, however, expected
to receive written confirmations providing details of the transaction, as well as periodic statements of
their holdings, from the Direct or Indirect Participant through which the Beneficial Owner entered
into the transaction. Transfers of ownership interests in the Series 2015 Bonds are to be
accomplished by entries made on the books of Direct and Indirect Participants acting on behalf of
Beneficial Owners. Beneficial Owners will not receive certificates representing their ownership
interests in the Series 2015 Bonds, except in the event that use of the book-entry system for the
Series 2015 Bonds is discontinued.

To facilitate subsequent transfers, all Series 2015 Bonds deposited by Direct Participants
with DTC are registered in the name of DTC’s partnership nominee, Cede & Co., or such other name
as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. The deposit of the Series 2015 Bonds
with DTC and their registration in the name of Cede & Co. or such other DTC nominee do not effect
any change in beneficial ownership. DTC has no knowledge of the actual Beneficial Owners of the
Series 2015 Bonds; DTC’s records reflect only the identity of the Direct Participants to whose
accounts such Series 2015 Bonds are credited, which may or may not be the Beneficial Owners. The
Direct and Indirect Participants will remain responsible for keeping account of their holdings on
behalf of their customers.



Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by Direct
Participants to Indirect Participants, and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to Beneficial
Owners will be governed by arrangements among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory
requirements as may be in effect from time to time. Beneficial Owners of the Series 2015 Bonds
may wish to take certain steps to augment transmission to them of notices of significant events with
respect to the Series 2015 Bonds, such as defaults and proposed amendments to the Series 2015
Bond documents. For example, Beneficial Owners of the Series 2015 Bonds may wish to ascertain
that the nominee holding the Series 2015 Bonds for their benefit has agreed to obtain and transmit
notices to Beneficial Owners. In the alternative, Beneficial Owners may wish to provide their names
and addresses to the registrar and request that copies of notices be provided directly to them.

If applicable, redemption notices shall be sent to DTC. If less than all of the bonds within an
issue are being redeemed, DTC’s practice is to determine by lot the amount of the interest of each
Direct Participant in such issue to be redeemed.

Neither DTC nor Cede & Co. (nor any other DTC nominee) will consent or vote with respect
to the Series 2015 Bonds unless authorized by a Direct Participant in accordance with DTC’s
Procedures. Under its usual procedures, DTC mails an Omnibus Proxy to the Issuer as soon as
possible after the record date. The Omnibus Proxy assigns Cede & Co.’s consenting or voting rights
to those Direct Participants to whose accounts the Series 2015 Bonds are credited on the record date
(identified in a listing attached to the Omnibus Proxy).

As long as the book-entry system is in effect, payments on the Series 2015 Bonds will be
made to Cede & Co., or such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of
DTC. DTC’s practice is to credit Direct Participants’ accounts upon DTC’s receipt of funds and
corresponding detailed information from the Issuer or the Trustee, on payable date in accordance
with their respective holdings shown on DTC’s records. Payments by Participants to Beneficial
Owners will be governed by standing instructions and customary practices, as is the case with
securities held for the accounts of customers in bearer form or registered in “street name,” and will
be the responsibility of such Participant and not of DTC, the Trustee, the College, or the Issuer,
subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time. Payment
of amounts due on the Series 2015 Bonds to Cede & Co. (or such other nominee as may be requested
by an authorized representative of DTC) is the responsibility of the Issuer or the Trustee,
disbursement of such payments to Direct Participants will be the responsibility of DTC, and
disbursement of such payments to Beneficial Owners will be the responsibility of Direct and Indirect
Participants.

DTC may discontinue providing its services as depository with respect to the Series 2015
Bonds at any time by giving reasonable notice to the Issuer or the Trustee. Under such
circumstances, in the event that a successor securities depository is not obtained, Series 2015 Bond
certificates are required to be printed and delivered to DTC.

The Issuer may decide to discontinue use of the system of book-entry transfers through DTC
(or a successor securities depository). In that event, Series 2015 Bond certificates will be printed
and delivered.



The information in this section concerning DTC and DTC’s book-entry system has been
obtained from sources that the College believes to be reliable, but neither the College nor the Issuer
take any responsibility for the accuracy thereof.

REDEMPTION

Optional Redemption. The Series 2015 Bonds maturing on or prior to October 1, 2024 are
not subject to redemption prior to maturity. The Series 2015 Bonds maturing on or after October 1,
2025 are subject to redemption prior to maturity in whole or in part on any date on or after April 1,
2025 by the Issuer at the direction of the College out of any moneys received by the Trustee from the
College and deposited in the Optional Redemption Fund created under the Indenture, in such order
of maturities as the College may designate, at a redemption price of 100% of the principal amount of
such Series 2015 Bonds to be redeemed.

Sinking Fund Redemption. The Series 2015 Bonds maturing October 1, 2016 are subject to
redemption in part by operation of mandatory sinking fund installments, at a redemption price equal
to 100% of the principal amount of each Series 2015 Bond or portion thereof to be redeemed,
together with accrued interest to the date of redemption. The amounts and due dates of the sinking
fund installments for the Series 2015 Bonds maturing on October 1, 2016 are set forth in the
following table:

OCTOBER 1
OF THE YEAR AMOUNT
2015 $ 60,000
2016 625,000

" Stated maturity.

The Series 2015 Bonds maturing October 1, 2026 are subject to redemption in part by
operation of mandatory sinking fund installments, at a redemption price equal to 100% of the
principal amount of each Series 2015 Bond or portion thereof to be redeemed, together with accrued
interest to the date of redemption. The amounts and due dates of the sinking fund installments for
the Series 2015 Bonds maturing on October 1, 2026 are set forth in the following table:

OCTOBER 1
OF THE YEAR AMOUNT
2025 $885,000
2026 915,000

* Stated maturity.

Selection of Series 2015 Bonds for Redemption. If less than all of the Series 2015 Bonds are
called for redemption, the Series 2015 Bonds shall be redeemed from the outstanding Series 2015
Bonds in such order of maturities or for credit to such sinking fund installments as shall be selected
by the Issuer at the direction of the College. If less than all of the Series 2015 Bonds maturing on
any single date are called for redemption, the Trustee shall select the Series 2015 Bonds to be
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redeemed, from the outstanding Series 2015 Bonds maturing on that date by lot in such manner as
the Trustee’s shall deem fair and equitable; provided that the portion of any Series 2015 Bond to be
redeemed shall be in an authorized denomination.

Notice of Redemption. Unless waived by any owner of the Series 2015 Bonds, or portions
thereof, to be redeemed, official notice of any such redemption shall be given by the Trustee by
mailing a copy of a redemption notice by first class mail, postage prepaid, at least 30 days and not
more than 60 days prior to the date fixed for redemption to the owner of the Series 2015 Bonds to be
redeemed, at the address shown in the records of the Trustee or at such other address as is furnished
in writing by such owner to the Trustee, provided that so long as the Series 2015 Bonds are held in
book-entry form, the redemption notice shall be mailed by registered or certified mail, postage
prepaid.

SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE SERIES 2015 BONDS

THE LOAN AGREEMENT AND SERIES 2015 NOTE

Under the Loan Agreement, the Issuer agrees to issue the Series 2015 Bonds and to lend the
proceeds thereof to the College to refund the Refunded Bonds and pay costs of issuance of the Series
2015 Bonds. The College covenants to execute the Series 2015 Note to evidence its unconditional
obligation to repay the loan in amounts sufficient, together with available funds held under the
Indenture, to provide for the timely payment of the principal of, and interest on the Series 2015
Bonds when due (whether at maturity or upon mandatory sinking fund redemption or acceleration)
and to perform certain other obligations set forth therein. The obligations of the College to make
payments under the Loan Agreement and the Series 2015 Note are complete and unconditional. The
amount, manner and time of making such payments shall not be decreased, abated, postponed or
delayed for any cause or by reason of the occurrence or nonoccurrence of any event, irrespective of
any defense or any right of set-off, recoupment or counterclaim which the College may otherwise
have against the Issuer, the Trustee or any Bondholder for any cause whatsoever, including, without
limiting the generality of the foregoing, any declaration or finding that the Series 2015 Bonds or the
Indenture are invalid or unenforceable or any other failure or default by the Issuer or the Trustee.

In the Loan Agreement, the College covenants, among other things, (1) to maintain its status
as an organization exempt from federal income taxation under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and (ii) not to incur any indebtedness senior to the Series 2015
Bonds, except for equipment leases and real property purchase money mortgages. The Loan
Agreement permits the College to incur additional indebtedness (including parity indebtedness),
dispose of assets (including cash) and to take other corporate actions, provided that it complies with
certain conditions set forth in the Loan Agreement.

The Issuer will assign the Loan Agreement and the Series 2015 Note, including its rights to
receive certain payments thereunder, to the Trustee for the benefit of the owners of all Series 2015
Bonds. For further discussion of the provisions of the Loan Agreement, see “APPENDIX C —
FORMS OF THE BOND DOCUMENTS” attached to this Official Statement.

In connection with the issuance of the Outstanding Bonds, the College and the Issuer entered
into the Outstanding Loan Agreements, dated as of May 1, 2005 and April 1, 2007, respectively, and
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the College executed and delivered the Outstanding Promissory Notes thereunder. The terms and
provisions of the Loan Agreement executed in connection with the Series 2015 Bonds and the
Outstanding Loan Agreements are substantially identical, other than the respective amounts payable
thereunder by the College. The payment obligation of the College under the Loan Agreement, the
Series 2015 Note, the Outstanding Loan Agreements and the Outstanding Promissory Notes is, in
each case, a general corporate obligation of the College. An event of default under one of the
Outstanding Loan Agreements constitutes an event of default under the Loan Agreement.

THE INDENTURE

The Series 2015 Bonds are to be issued pursuant to the Indenture and will be equally and
ratably secured thereby and by an assignment of certain of the Issuer’s rights under the Loan
Agreement. The Indenture provides that the Series 2015 Bonds are limited obligations of the Issuer,
payable solely from and secured solely by (i) certain payments made by the College under the Loan
Agreement and the Series 2015 Note, (ii) the amounts, if any, on deposit in the Debt Service Reserve
Fund (on a parity with the Outstanding Bonds, as described below), and (ii1) the funds (other than
any rebate fund with respect to the Series 2015 Bonds) established under the Indenture (the
“Funds”). As security for its obligations under the Indenture, the Issuer pledges to the Trustee
certain payments of the College received or receivable by the Issuer pursuant to the Loan Agreement
and the Series 2015 Note and the Funds and all income derived from the investment of such Funds.
Neither the owners of the Series 2015 Bonds nor the Trustee will have any mortgage lien on any of
the College’s facilities. See “APPENDIX A —WESTMINSTER COLLEGE” and “APPENDIX C—FORMS
OF THE BOND DOCUMENTS” attached to this Official Statement.

In connection with the issuance of the Outstanding Bonds, the Issuer and the Trustee entered
into the Outstanding Trust Indentures. The terms and provisions of the Indenture executed in
connection with the Series 2015 Bonds and the Outstanding Trust Indentures are substantially
identical, other than the specific provisions for each series of the Outstanding Bonds (e.g., principal
amounts, maturity dates, interest rates, redemption features, etc.). Each of the Outstanding Trust
Indentures creates a separate trust estate to secure the obligations issued under it, although the Debt
Service Reserve Fund, which was created under a trust indenture for certain previously-outstanding
bonds (the “Original Indenture”), secures all of the Bonds on a parity basis. See “Debt Service
Reserve Fund” below. An event of default under any of the Outstanding Trust Indentures is an event
of default under the Indenture.

DEBT SERVICE RESERVE FUND

A Debt Service Reserve Fund, which was established under the Original Indenture and
confirmed under the Indenture, and which is held by the Trustee as security for the Bonds, provides
that Additional Bonds may be secured by the Debt Service Reserve Fund if an amount equal to the
increased Debt Service Reserve Requirement is deposited into the Debt Service Reserve Fund upon
the issuance of the Additional Bonds. The Series 2015 Bonds and the Outstanding Bonds are
equally and ratably secured by the Debt Service Reserve Fund. The amounts on deposit in the Debt
Service Reserve Fund may be used (subject to any required rebate of investment earnings thereon to
the United States of America) solely for the payment of principal of, premium, if any, and interest on
the Bonds in the event that moneys in the Bond Sinking Funds and Interest Funds established under

-



the Outstanding Trust Indentures, the Indenture and any future indenture providing for the issuance
of Additional Bonds, are insufficient to make such payments when due.

The Debt Service Reserve Requirement is an amount equal to the lesser of (i) 100% of the
Maximum Annual Debt Service (ii) 125% of the Average Annual Debt Service, and (iii) 10%
percent of the stated principal amount, of all Bonds outstanding and any Additional Bonds that are
issued by the Issuer on behalf of the College and that are secured by the Debt Service Reserve Fund.
Upon the issuance of the Series 2015 Bonds, the Debt Service Reserve Requirement will be equal to
$2.,499,250. See “APPENDIX C—FORMS OF THE BOND DOCUMENTS” for a description of terms and
provisions of the Indenture applicable to the Debt Service Reserve Fund.

If by 10:00 a.m., Utah time, on any date on which payment of principal of or interest on the
Bonds or any Additional Bonds secured by the Debt Service Reserve Fund is to be made, the
amounts on deposit in the Bond Sinking Fund and/or the Interest Fund (or comparable funds or
accounts with respect to the Outstanding Bonds and any Additional Bonds) (collectively, the “Bond
Funds”), shall be less than the amount due on such date, the Trustee shall transfer moneys from the
Debt Service Reserve Fund to the Bond Funds to the extent necessary to eliminate any deficiency in
such funds. To the extent that amounts in the Debt Service Reserve Fund are not sufficient to
eliminate such deficiency, amounts in the Debt Service Reserve Fund shall be transferred first to the
Interest Funds for the Bonds and any Additional Bonds, and second to the Bond Sinking Funds for
the Bonds and any Additional Bonds, in amounts proportional to the outstanding principal amounts
of the Bonds and any Additional Bonds secured by the Debt Service Reserve Fund.

The Direct Obligations are not secured by the Debt Service Reserve Fund.

ADDITIONAL INDEBTEDNESS

The amount of bonds that may be issued under the Indenture is limited to the original
principal amount of the Series 2015 Bonds. The Issuer and the Trustee may enter into other
indentures or instruments in the future to provide financing for projects undertaken by the College.

The Loan Agreement permits the College to incur additional indebtedness. Under the Loan
Agreement, the College may not incur any Indebtedness senior to its obligations under the Loan
Agreement, with the exception of equipment leases and real property purchase money mortgages.
As of the date of this Official Statement, the only such real property purchase money mortgages or
equipment leases in effect are (1) the Mortgages securing the Direct Obligations (each as defined
below) and (ii) capital leases entered into with a developer for the lease of residential and academic
space (collectively, the “Capital Lease”).

The Capital Lease. The College entered into the Capital Lease in December 2010, pursuant
to which it leases residential and academic space that provides for 168 student residential beds and
approximately 15,000 square feet of academic classroom and office space. Construction of the
leased facilities was completed in 2012. The lease term is for 25 years, and the lease payments are
based on a percentage of the construction and land costs. The lease cost for 2015 is expected to be
$1,295,000, with lease costs ranging between approximately $1.4 million to $2.1 million per year
thereafter. See Note H-Capital Lease in “APPENDIX B — AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF



THE COLLEGE FOR THE FISCAL YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2014 AND 2013” for more information
about the Capital Lease.

The Direct Obligations. In addition to its general corporate debt obligations under the Series
2015 Note and the Outstanding Promissory Notes, the College incurred (i) a loan, dated as of
February 1, 2012, which was outstanding in the amount of $3,140,778 as of June 30, 2014 (the
“2012 Direct Obligations”), secured under a Credit Agreement, dated as of February 1, 2012,
between the College and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as lender (the “2012 Credit
Agreement”), and a deed of trust from the College in favor of the lender (the “2012 Mortgage”), in
order to finance the cost of acquisition of various residential rental properties located in the vicinity
of the College’s campus, and (ii) a loan payable to Salt Lake City Corporation, incurred in
connection with the purchase of certain existing school facilities for use by the College, secured by a
Deed of Trust, dated March 18,2011, from the College to Salt Lake City (the “2011 Mortgage” and,
collectively with the 2012 Deed of Trust, the “Mortgages”), which loan was outstanding in the
principal amount of $804,791 as of June 30, 2014 (the “2011 Direct Obligations”). The 2012 Credit
Agreement, the 2012 Mortgage, and the 2011 Mortgage are referred to collectively herein as the
“Direct Obligation Security Documents.”

The Direct Obligations are general corporate obligations of the College and are each
additionally and separately secured by the respective Mortgage. Each of the Mortgages includes a
mortgage on the financed property and a security interest in the rental income and other revenues
derived from the financed property. There is no debt service reserve for any of the Direct
Obligations. An event of default under any of the Direct Obligation Security Documents is an event
of default under the Loan Agreement.

To date, the revenues from the rental properties financed by the 2012 Direct Obligations have
been sufficient to pay the scheduled debt service on the 2012 Direct Obligations. The 2011 Direct
Obligations and the 2012 Direct Obligations mature in March 2017 and February 2022, respectively.

See “DEBT SERVICE REQUIREMENTS” herein for a schedule of the principal and interest
payments on the Direct Obligations.

LIMITED OBLIGATIONS

The Series 2015 Bonds are limited obligations of the Issuer, payable by the Issuer solely out
of the revenues derived from or in connection with the Loan Agreement, the Indenture, the
Series 2015 Note and the Series 2015 Bonds (the “Bond Documents”), the amounts, if any, on
deposit in the Debt Service Reserve Fund, as described above, including all sums deposited in the
Funds from time to time pursuant to the Bond Documents, and in certain events out of amounts
secured through the exercise of the remedies provided in the Bond Documents upon occurrence of
an event of default under the Bond Documents. The College unconditionally agrees in the Loan
Agreement to make all payments required of it by the Loan Agreement.

NEITHER THE STATE, THE ISSUER NOR ANY POLITICAL CORPORATION, SUBDIVISION OR
AGENCY OF THE STATE WILL BE OBLIGATED TO PAY THE PRINCIPAL OF OR INTEREST ON THE
SERIES 2015 BONDS, AND NEITHER THE FAITH AND CREDIT NOR THE TAXING POWER OF THE
STATE, THE ISSUER OR ANY OTHER POLITICAL CORPORATION, SUBDIVISION OR AGENCY OF THE
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STATE IS PLEDGED TO THE PAYMENT OF THE PRINCIPAL OF OR INTEREST ON THE SERIES 2015
BONDS. NO RECOURSE UNDER THE SERIES 2015 BONDS MAY BE HAD AGAINST ANY PAST, PRESENT
OR FUTURE OFFICER OF THE ISSUER OR THE STATE. THE SERIES 2015 BONDS SHALL NEVER BE
PAID IN WHOLE OR IN PART OUT OF ANY FUNDS RAISED OR TO BE RAISED BY TAXATION OR OUT OF
ANY OTHER REVENUES OF THE ISSUER OR THE STATE EXCEPT THOSE REVENUES PLEDGED BY THE
INDENTURE. NO DEFICIENCY JUDGMENT UPON FORECLOSURE OF THE LIEN OF THE INDENTURE
MAY BE ENTERED AGAINST THE ISSUER.

PLAN OF REFUNDING

A portion of the proceeds of the Series 2015 Bonds will be deposited with the Trustee in the
Optional Redemption Funds established under the Trust Indenture securing the Refunded Bonds (the
“Refunded Bond Indenture”). Such amounts deposited will be used to purchase direct obligations of
the United States and fund a beginning cash balance, which shall be sufficient, together with the
interest earnings thereon, to pay interest on the Refunding Bonds on the interest payment date prior
to the Redemption Date (defined below) and to redeem the Refunded Bonds on the Redemption
Date. Upon the deposit of such amount and compliance with certain requirements of the Refunded
Bond Indenture, the Refunded Bonds will be deemed to be paid and will cease to be entitled to the
pledge and security of the Refunded Bond Indenture. The Refunded Bonds will be called for
redemption on October 1, 2015 (the “Redemption Date”), at a redemption price of 100% of the
principal amount thereof, plus accrued interest thereon.
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SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS

The following table sets forth the estimated sources and uses of funds in connection with the
issuance of the Series 2015 Bonds:

SOURCES OF FUNDS
Principal Amount of Series 2015 Bonds $11,415,000
Original Issue Premium 765,302
Transfer from Debt Service Reserve Funds held with
respect to Refunded Bonds 162.982
TOTAL SOURCES $12,343,284

USES OF FUNDS

Refunding of Refunded Bonds $12,128 419
Costs of Issuance” 214.865
TOTAL USES $12.343.284

" Includes Underwriter’s discount; the fees and expenses of the Issuer, the Trustee, bond and disclosure counsel, and
the financial advisor; rating agency fees; and miscellaneous costs and expenses.
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DEBT SERVICE REQUIREMENTS

The following table sets forth the debt service requirements of the Series 2015 Bonds, the
Outstanding Bonds, and the Direct Obligations for each fiscal year of the College (including the total
annual debt service payable by the College under the Outstanding Promissory Notes and the Series
2015 Note):

YEAR SERIES SERIES TOTAL
ENDING SERIES 2015 BONDS"" 2005 2007 DIRECT DEBT
JUNE30  PRINCIPAL  INTEREST BonDs" BONDS OBLIGATIONS® SERVICE

2015 $ - $ - $1,178,837.50 $1,356,425.00 $ 595481.10 $3,130,743.60
2016 60,000 440,975.00 584,250.00 1,352,287.50 595,481.09 3,032,993.59
2017 625,000 460,100.00 1,351,912.50 595,481.09 3,032,493.59
2018 630,000 450,700.00 1,355,075.00 299,954 .94 2,735,729.94
2019 650,000 431,300.00 1,356,662.50 299,954 .94 2,737917.44
2020 685,000 397,925.00 1,351,787.50 299,954 .94 2,734,667 .44
2021 720,000 362,800.00 1,349,418.75 299,954 .94 2,732,173.69
2022 755,000 325,925.00 1,354,162.50 299,954 .95 2,735,042.45
2023 790,000 287,300.00 1,350,750.00 299,954 .95 2,728,004 .95
2024 830,000 255,100.00 1,344,250.00 299,954 .94 2,729,304 .94
2025 855,000 224.,825.00 1,345,500.00 299,954 .94 2,725,279.94
2026 885,000 193,171.88 1,344,250.00 299,954 .94 2,722,376.82
2027 915,000 165,046.88 1,335,625.00 299,954 .94 2,715,626.82
2028 - 150,750.00 2,348,500.00 2.,499,250.00
2029 955,000 126,875.00 1,332,250.00 2.414,125.00
2030 1,005,000 77,875.00 835,375.00 1,918,250.00
2031 1.055.000 26.375.00 1.081.375.00
TOTAL $11.415000  $4,377.043.76 $1,763.087.50  $22,064.231.25 $4,785.992.70 $44.405,355.21

@ For purposes of this table, the Series 2015 Bonds are considered to be outstanding and the Refunded Bonds are

considered to have been refunded.

@ . .
Excludes lease payments on the capital lease described above under “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT

FOR THE SERIES 2015 BONDS—Additional Indebtedness—Capital Lease.” The net revenues generated from the
rental properties financed by the 2012 Direct Obligations (which constitute approximately 80% of the currently
outstanding principal amount of the Direct Obligations) are currently sufficient to pay interest on the 2012 Direct
Obligations as such payments become due.
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THE ISSUER

Salt Lake County, Utah is a body politic authorized by the Utah Constitution and created
by the Utah State Legislature. The Issuer has a current population of approximately 1.1 million
residents. The Issuer is authorized under the Act to issue the Series 2015 Bonds and to loan the
proceeds thereof to the College to provide educational and housing facilities.

The Issuer is governed by a segregated elected executive known as the County Mayor
and a nine-member legislative body known as the County Council. The County Mayor serves as
a full-time official performing traditional day to day executive/management duties, and the
County Council members serve as part-time officials performing the legislative functions of the
Issuer. The County Mayor is elected at large. The County Council consists of six members
elected from districts and three members elected at-large. The split of executive and legislative
powers follows traditional separations found in State law and in other governmental entities
using a system of segregated government powers.

Pursuant to the Act and a resolution adopted by the Issuer’s County Council, the Issuer is
authorized to issue the Series 2015 Bonds and to loan the proceeds thereof to the College for the
purposes described in this Official Statement. To accomplish such actions, the Issuer is
authorized to enter into the Indenture and the Loan Agreement. The Issuer has not undertaken or
assumed any responsibility for the matters contained in this Official Statement, except solely as
to matters relating to the Issuer.

THE COLLEGE

Westminster College is a four-year, private, not-for-profit college offering both
baccalaureate and master’s degrees in a variety of disciplines. In the fall 2014 semester, the
College had a total enrollment of 2,989 students, 75% of which were undergraduate students and
25% of which were graduate students. The College’s 27-acre campus is located in the
southeastern quadrant of Salt Lake City, Utah. Exhibiting trademark features of both a liberal
arts college and a comprehensive university, the College has a tradition of integrating the liberal
arts and sciences with professional and career preparation.

In 2013, the College was fully re-accredited to award degrees by the Northwest
Association of Schools and Colleges. The College is also accredited by the Utah State Board of
Education for its teaching certificate program, by the Commission on Collegiate Nursing
Education and the Utah State Board of Nursing for its nursing degree program and by the
Association of Collegiate Business Schools and Programs for its business and finance degree
programs.

See “APPENDIX A — WESTMINSTER COLLEGE” for more detailed information about the
College and its history, organization, operations and financial performance.
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RISK FACTORS AFFECTING THE COLLEGE
AND THE PAYMENT OF THE SERIES 2015 BONDS

As described in this Official Statement, the Series 2015 Bonds are not secured by a
mortgage, lien or security interest on or in any of the funds or other assets of the College. The
payment obligations of the College under the Loan Agreement, the Series 2015 Note, the
Outstanding Loan Agreements, the Outstanding Promissory Notes, and the Direct Obligations,
are general obligations of the College and, except for the Direct Obligations, which are secured
by the Mortgages, as described above, are unsecured by any property or other assets of the
College. The Series 2015 Bonds and the Outstanding Bonds are equally and ratably secured by
amounts on deposit in the Debt Service Reserve Fund. The College is permitted to incur other
parity debt and subordinated debt. See “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE SERIES
BONDS” above.

Various factors will affect the ability of the College to meet its obligations with respect to
the Loan Agreement, the Outstanding Loan Agreements, and the Direct Obligations to provide
for the timely payment of debt service on such obligations. Such factors include, among other
things, the continued availability to the College of revenues from a variety of sources sufficient
to meet such obligations, the College’s operating expenses, debt service on other debt,
extraordinary costs or expenses which may occur, and other costs and expenses. Revenues and
expenses of the College will be affected by future events and conditions relating generally to,
among other things, the ability of the College to provide educational programs to attract and
retain sufficient numbers of students during the time that the obligations remain outstanding,
economic and demographic changes that may affect the number of students enrolled at the
College, the abilities of the College’s Board of Trustees and administration to manage and
operate the College, the College’s ability to control expenses, the College’s ability to maintain or
increase rates for tuition and other fees without adversely affecting enrollment, the ability of the
College to attract and retain quality faculty members for its educational programs, the investment
of the College’s endowment and other funds, the ability of the College to solicit and obtain
future gifts and bequests, governmental assistance for student financial aid, and grants and
contracts from governmental bodies, agencies and others. No assurances can be given that these
or other sources of revenues will be adequate to meet the future expenses of the College. In
addition, future revenues and expenses of the College will be subject to conditions which may
differ from current conditions.

Additional factors that may affect the College’s future operations include:

® The continuing willingness of donors to support the programs and construction plans
of the College over and above the operating revenues of the College. Changes in
federal or state tax laws and the state of the economy in general may affect the
willingness and the ability of donors to support the College as they have in recent
years.

® The level of unrestricted funds in the College’s endowment is less than the principal
amount of the Bonds. Purchasers of the Series 2015 Bonds should not rely on the
size of the College’s endowment as a reflection of the College’s ability to pay
principal of and interest on the Series 2015 Bonds as and when due. Moreover, there
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is no assurance that investment returns of income from and appreciation on the
College’s endowment will continue to provide unrestricted endowment income at the
levels experienced in previous years.

® The College is subject to increasing costs of compliance with federal or state
regulatory laws or regulations, including, without limitation, laws or regulations
concerning environmental quality, employment and work safety matters, health care
reform and accommodating the disabled.

® The College has assembled an experienced and proven Board of Trustees and
administration that have contributed significantly to the results for the College over
the past ten years. There is no assurance that the College will be able to retain or
replace departing Trustees and administrators with persons of equal or greater ability
or experience.

® Possible changes in federal or state tax laws such that the College will be required to
pay income or other taxes that are not currently required of the College. Moreover,
the College’s current exemption from federal and state income taxes on its earnings,
and certain property tax exemptions locally, are dependent on the College operating
under strict limitations prescribed by governments in connection with such tax
exemptions.

® Any unionization of the College work force with consequent impact on wage scales
and operating costs of the College could have an adverse effect on the College’s
results and budgets.

The College cannot assess or predict the ultimate effect of these factors on its future
operations or financial results of operations. See “APPENDIX A — WESTMINSTER COLLEGE”
and “APPENDIX B — AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE COLLEGE FOR THE FISCAL
YEARS ENDED JUNE 30,2014 AND 2013 for more detailed information about the College and its
results of operations.

TAX MATTERS

FEDERAL INCOME TAXATION

Federal tax law contains a number of requirements and restrictions which apply to the
Series 2015 Bonds, including investment restrictions, periodic payments of arbitrage profits to
the United States, requirements regarding the proper use of bond proceeds and the facilities
financed therewith, and certain other matters. The Issuer and the College have covenanted to
comply with all requirements that must be satisfied in order for the interest on the Series 2015
Bonds to be excludable from gross income for federal income tax purposes. Failure to comply
with certain of such covenants could cause interest on the Series 2015 Bonds to become
includible in gross income for federal income tax purposes retroactively to the date of issuance
of the Series 2015 Bonds.
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Subject to compliance by the Issuer and the College with the above-referenced covenants,
under present law, in the opinion of Bond Counsel, interest on the Series 2015 Bonds is
excludable from the gross income of the owners thereof for federal income tax purposes, and is
not included as an item of tax preference in computing the federal alternative minimum tax for
individuals and corporations. Interest on the Series 2015 Bonds is taken into account, however,
in computing an adjustment used in determining the federal alternative minimum tax for certain
corporations.

In rendering its opinion, Chapman and Cutler LLP, as Bond Counsel, will rely upon
certifications of the Issuer and the College with respect to certain material facts solely within the
Issuer’s and the College’s knowledge and will rely on an opinion of Melissa Flores, General
Counsel to the College, that the College is a 501(c)(3) organization and certain other matters.
Bond Counsel’s opinion represents its legal judgment based upon its review of the law and the
facts that it deems relevant to render such opinion and is not a guarantee of a result.

The Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”) includes provisions for an
alternative minimum tax (“AMT”) for corporations in addition to the corporate regular tax in
certain cases. The AMT, if any, depends upon the corporation’s alternative minimum taxable
income (“AMTI”), which is the corporation’s taxable income with certain adjustments. One of
the adjustment items used in computing the AMTI of a corporation (excluding S Corporations,
Regulated Investment Companies, Real Estate Investment Trusts, REMICs and FASITs) is an
amount equal to 75% of the excess of such corporation’s “adjusted current earnings” over an
amount equal to its AMTI (before such adjustment item and the alternative tax net operating loss
deduction). “Adjusted current earnings” would include all tax exempt-interest, including interest
on the Series 2015 Bonds.

Ownership of the Series 2015 Bonds may result in collateral federal income tax
consequences to certain taxpayers, including, without limitation, corporations subject to the
branch profits tax, financial institutions, certain insurance companies, certain S corporations,
individual recipients of Social Security or Railroad Retirement benefits and taxpayers who may
be deemed to have incurred (or continued) indebtedness to purchase or carry tax-exempt
obligations. Prospective purchasers of the Series 2015 Bonds should consult their tax advisors as
to applicability of any such collateral consequences.

The issue price (the “Issue Price”) for each maturity of the Series 2015 Bonds is the
price at which a substantial amount of such maturity of the Series 2015 Bonds is first sold to the
public. The Issue Price of a maturity of the Series 2015 Bonds may be different from the price
set forth, or the price corresponding to the yield set forth, on the cover page hereof.

If the Issue Price of a maturity of the Series 2015 Bonds is less than the principal amount
payable at maturity, the difference between the Issue Price of each such maturity of the Series
2015 Bonds (the “OID Bonds”) and the principal amount payable at maturity is original issue
discount.

For an investor who purchases an OID Bond in the initial public offering at the Issue
Price for such maturity and who holds such OID Bond to its stated maturity, subject to the
condition that the Issuer and the Corporation complies with the covenants discussed above,
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(a) the full amount of original issue discount with respect to such OID Bond constitutes interest
which is excludable from the gross income of the owner thereof for federal income tax purposes;
(b) such owner will not realize taxable capital gain or market discount upon payment of such
OID Bond at its stated maturity; (c) such original issue discount is not included as an item of tax
preference in computing the alternative minimum tax for individuals and corporations under the
Code, but is taken into account in computing an adjustment used in determining the alternative
minimum tax for certain corporations under the Code, as described above; and (d) the accretion
of original issue discount in each year may result in an alternative minimum tax liability for
corporations or certain other collateral federal income tax consequences in each year even
though a corresponding cash payment may not be received until a later year. Owners of OID
Bonds should consult their own tax advisors with respect to the state and local tax consequences
of original issue discount on such OID Bonds.

Owners of Series 2015 Bonds who dispose of Series 2015 Bonds prior to the stated
maturity (whether by sale, redemption or otherwise), purchase Series 2015 Bonds in the public
offering, but at a price different from the Issue Price or purchase Series 2015 Bonds subsequent
to the initial public offering should consult their own tax advisors.

If a Series 2015 Bond is purchased at any time for a price that is less than the Series 2015
Bond’s stated redemption price at maturity, or, in the case of an OID Bond, its Issue Price plus
accreted original issue discount (the “Revised Issue Price”), the purchaser will be treated as
having purchased a Series 2015 Bond with market discount subject to the market discount rules
of the Code (unless a statutory de minimis rule applies). Accrued market discount is treated as
taxable ordinary income and is recognized when a Series 2015 Bond is disposed of (to the extent
such accrued discount does not exceed gain realized) or, at the purchaser’s election, as it accrues.
Such treatment would apply to any purchaser who purchases an OID Bond for a price that is less
than its Revised Issue Price. The applicability of the market discount rules may adversely affect
the liquidity or secondary market price of such Series 2015 Bond. Purchasers should consult
their own tax advisors regarding the potential implications of market discount with respect to the
Series 2015 Bonds.

An investor may purchase a Series 2015 Bond at a price in excess of its stated principal
amount. Such excess is characterized for federal income tax purposes as “bond premium” and
must be amortized by an investor on a constant yield basis over the remaining term of the Series
2015 Bond in a manner that takes into account potential call dates and call prices. An investor
cannot deduct amortized bond premium relating to a tax-exempt bond. The amortized bond
premium is treated as a reduction in the tax-exempt interest received. As bond premium is
amortized, it reduces the investor’s basis in the Series 2015 Bond. Investors who purchase a
Bond at a premium should consult their own tax advisors regarding the amortization of bond
premium and its effect on the Series 2015 Bond’s basis for purposes of computing gain or loss in
connection with the sale, exchange, redemption or early retirement of the Bond.

There are or may be pending in the Congress of the United States legislative proposals,
including some that carry retroactive effective dates, that, if enacted, could alter or amend the
federal tax matters referred to above or adversely affect the market value of the Series 2015
Bonds. It cannot be predicted whether or in what form any such proposal might be enacted or
whether, if enacted, it would apply to bonds issued prior to enactment. Prospective purchasers of
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the Series 2015 Bonds should consult their own tax advisors regarding any pending or proposed
federal tax legislation. Bond Counsel expresses no opinion regarding any pending or proposed
federal tax legislation.

The Internal Revenue Service (the “Service”) has an ongoing program of auditing tax—
exempt obligations to determine whether, in the view of the Service, interest on such tax—exempt
obligations is includible in the gross income of the owners thereof for federal income tax
purposes. It cannot be predicted whether or not the Service will commence an audit of the Series
2015 Bonds. If an audit is commenced, under current procedures the Service will treat the Issuer
as the taxpayer and the Bondholders may have no right to participate in such procedure. The
commencement of an audit could adversely affect the market value and liquidity of the Series
2015 Bonds until the audit is concluded, regardless of the ultimate outcome.

UTAH INCOME TAXATION

In the opinion of Bond Counsel, under the existing laws of the State of Utah, as presently
enacted and construed, interest on the Series 2015 Bonds is exempt from taxes imposed by the
Utah Individual Income Tax Act. Bond Counsel expresses no opinion with respect to any other
taxes imposed by the State of Utah or any political subdivision thereof. Ownership of the Series
2015 Bonds may result in other state and local tax consequences to certain taxpayers. Bond
Counsel expresses no opinion regarding any such collateral consequences arising with respect to
the Series 2015 Bonds. Prospective purchasers of the Series 2015 Bonds should consult their tax
advisors regarding the applicability of any such state and local taxes.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE

The College will enter into a Continuing Disclosure Undertaking (the “Undertaking”) for
the benefit of the beneficial owners of the Series 2015 Bonds to send certain information
annually and to provide notice of certain events to certain information repositories pursuant to
the requirements of Section (b)(5) of Rule 15¢2-12 (the “Rule”) adopted by the Securities and
Exchange Commission (the “Commission”) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. The
proposed form of the Undertaking is appended hereto as “APPENDIX D — Proposed Form of
Continuing Disclosure Undertaking.”

During the five years prior to the date of this Official Statement, the College has not
failed to comply in all material respects with its prior undertakings pursuant to the Rule;
however, although the College timely provided its annual financial information for fiscal years
2010 through 2012 to its dissemination agent, such information was filed by the dissemination
agent after the deadline specified in the prior undertakings. A failure by the College to comply
with the Undertaking will not constitute an Event of Default under the Indenture, and beneficial
owners of the Series 2015 Bonds are limited to the remedies described in the Undertaking. A
failure by the College to comply with the Undertaking must be reported in accordance with the
Rule and must be considered by any broker, dealer or municipal securities dealer before
recommending the purchase or sale of the Series 2015 Bonds in the secondary market.
Consequently, such a failure may adversely affect the transferability and liquidity of the Series
2015 Bonds and their market price.
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NO LITIGATION

There is no litigation now pending or threatened restraining or enjoining the issuance,
sale, execution or delivery of the Series 2015 Bonds, or in any way contesting or affecting the
validity of the Series 2015 Bonds or any proceedings of the Issuer taken with respect to the
issuance or sale thereof, or the pledge or application of any moneys or security provided for the
payment of the Series 2015 Bonds or the existence of the powers of the Issuer.

There is no litigation or claim against the College now pending or threatened that, if
decided against the College, would individually or in the aggregate cause a material adverse
effect on the results or assets of the College.

LEGAL MATTERS

Certain legal matters incident to the authorization, sale and issuance of the Series 2015
Bonds are subject to the approving legal opinion of Chapman and Cutler LLP, Bond Counsel,
which has been retained by and acts as Bond Counsel to the College. A copy of the proposed
form of the opinion of Bond Counsel is attached hereto as “APPENDIX E — Proposed Form of
Bond Counsel Opinion.” Certain legal matters will be passed upon for the Issuer by one of its
Deputy District Attorneys. Certain legal matters will be passed upon for the College by Melissa
Flores, Esq., its General Counsel.

RATING

The Series 2015 Bonds have received a rating of “BBB” from Standard and Poor’s
Rating Services. Any explanation of the significance of this rating may be obtained from the
rating service furnishing the same. There is no assurance that the rating given to the Series 2015
Bonds will be maintained for any period of time or that the rating may not be lowered or
withdrawn entirely by the rating service if, in its judgment, circumstances so warrant. Any such
downward change or withdrawal of such rating may have an adverse effect on the market price
of the Series 2015 Bonds.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements of Westminster College, as of June 30, 2014 and 2013 and for
the years then ended, included in this Official Statement as APPENDIX B, have been audited by
Grant Thornton LLP, independent auditors, as stated in their report appearing herein.

UNDERWRITING

KeyBanc Capital Markets Inc. (the “Underwriter”) has agreed, subject to certain
conditions, to purchase the Series2015 Bonds from the Issuer a purchase price of
$12,129,305.17 (reflecting the principal amount of the Series 2015 Bonds, less an underwriting
discount of $50,996.68, plus net original issue premium of $765,301.85), and to make a public
offering of the Series 2015 Bonds at prices not in excess of the public offering prices or at yields
not less than the yields set forth on the front cover of this Official Statement. The Underwriter
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will be obligated to purchase all of the Series 2015 Bonds if any Series 2015 Bonds are
purchased.

The Series 2015 Bonds may be offered and sold to certain dealers (including dealers
depositing such Series 2015 Bonds into investment trusts) at prices lower than or yields greater
than the public offering prices and yields set forth on the front cover of this Official Statement,
and such public offering prices and yields may be changed, from time to time, by the
Underwriter.

FINANCIAL ADVISOR

Zions Bank Public Finance (the “Financial Advisor”) is employed as financial advisor to
the College in connection with the issuance of the Series 2015 Bonds. The Financial Advisor’s
fee for services rendered with respect to the sale of the Series 2015 Bonds is contingent upon the
issuance and delivery of the Series 2015 Bonds. The Financial Advisor has not verified, and
does not assume any responsibility for, the information contained in this Official Statement or
the information, covenants and representations contained in any of the legal documents with
respect to the federal income tax status of the Series 2015 Bonds.

Certain members of the Board of Trustees of the College have employment, shareholder
and/or family relations with an affiliate of the Financial Advisor. In addition, the College has a
banking relationship with an affiliate of the Financial Advisor

ESCROW VERIFICATION

Grant Thornton LLP, Minneapolis, Minnesota, Certified Public Accountants, will verify
the accuracy of the mathematical computations concerning the adequacy of the maturing
principal amounts of and interest earned on the Government Obligations, together with other
escrowed moneys, to pay when due pursuant to prior redemption the redemption price of, and
interest on, the Refunded Bonds and the mathematical computations of the yield on the Series
2015 Bonds and the yield on the government obligations purchased with a portion of the
proceeds of the sale of the Series 2015 Bonds. Such verification shall be based in part upon
information supplied by the Underwriter.

MISCELLANEOUS

This Official Statement includes summaries of the terms of the Series 2015 Bonds, the
Indenture, the Loan Agreement and the Series 2015 Note. The summaries of and references to
all documents, statutes, reports, and other instruments referred to herein do not purport to be
complete, comprehensive or definitive, and each such summary and reference is qualified in its
entirety by reference to each such document, statute, report, or instrument. Descriptions of the
Indenture, the Loan Agreement, the Series 2015 Note and the Series 2015 Bonds are qualified by
reference to bankruptcy laws affecting the remedies for the enforcement of the rights and
security provided therein and the effect of the exercise of the police power by any entity having
jurisdiction. The forms of the Loan Agreement and the Indenture are contained in this Official
Statement and in “Appendix C—Forms of the Bond Documents.”
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Any statements in this Official Statement involving matters of opinion, whether or not
expressly so stated, are intended as such and not as representations of fact. This Official
Statement is not to be construed as a contract or agreement between either the Issuer or the
College and the purchasers or owners of any of the Series 2015 Bonds. The statements of the
College herein are not to be construed as statements by any officer or employee of the County or
any employee or member of the Board of Trustees of the College.

This Official Statement has been duly approved, executed and delivered by the Issuer and
the College.

The Appendices to this Official Statement are integral parts of this Official Statement and
must be read together with all other parts of this Official Statement.

Dated: March 17, 2015.

SALT LAKE COUNTY, UTAH

By /s/ Darrin Casper

Chief Financial Officer

WESTMINSTER COLLEGE

By /s/ Curtis Ryan

Vice President of Finance and Administration
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GENERAL

HISTORY OF THE COLLEGE

Westminster College (the “College”) was founded in 1875 as a preparatory school
known as the Salt Lake Collegiate Institute. In 1897, the College became known as Sheldon
Jackson College and began offering college classes. The College operated for many years on a
campus in downtown Salt Lake City. In 1902, the College became known as Westminster
College, and in 1911, the College moved to its present location in a primarily residential area of
Salt Lake City. High school classes continued to be an integral part of the curriculum until 1945.
The College became the first accredited two-year junior college in the intermountain area. In
1935, the College modified its curriculum to qualify as a four-year junior college, and in 1949,
the College became a four-year liberal arts institution offering baccalaureate degrees in the arts
and sciences. Today, the College is a fully-independent, privately-funded, comprehensive
institution of higher learning, offering professional and liberal arts courses and selected graduate
programs.

ACCREDITATION AND MEMBERSHIPS

The College is accredited to award baccalaureate and master’s degrees by the Northwest
Association of Schools and Colleges. Its Teacher Education Programs are accredited by the
Utah State Board of Education, its Nursing Program by the Commission on Collegiate Nursing
Education and the Utah State Board of Nursing, and its Business Programs by the Association of
Collegiate Business Schools and Programs. The College is a member of the National
Association of Independent Colleges and Universities, Association of American Association
Colleges and Universities, American Council on Education, Council for Independent Colleges,
Council for Adult and Experiential Learning, Western Interstate Commission on Higher
Education, Association of Collegiate Business Schools and Programs, Council for the
Advancement and Support of Education, American Association of Colleges of Nursing, Western
Institute of Nursing, Council on Accreditation of Nurse Anesthesia Education Programs and
University Aviation Association.

REPUTATION

In 2014, U.S. News and World Report ranked the College for the 20th consecutive year as
a “Best Regional University” in the West in its US News & World Report Guidebook, which
highlights America’s top colleges and universities. In the 2015 edition, Westminster was ranked
20th in this category, up two slots from last year. The College was also recognized for the fifth
year in a row on the list of “A+ Schools for B Students,” as well as being recognized as a “Best
Value” college.

The Princeton Review included the College in its 2015 list of “The 379 Best Colleges” in

America, which profiles schools that offer students the best undergraduate experiences in the
country. Inits 2015 edition, the Princeton Review again ranks the College among the top 15% of
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all four-year colleges in America. The publication also singled the College out for special
recognition in the category of “Quality of Life,” for which the College received a score of 95 on
a scale of 60-99, and the College received a score of 87 for Academics and 90 for its green
initiatives on a scale of 60-99.

Victory Media, a leading business that specializes in connecting military members with
the civilian world has designated the College as a 2015 “Military Friendly School.” This
designation is awarded to the top 15% of colleges, universities and trade schools in the U.S. that
are doing the most to embrace military students and to dedicate resources to ensure their success
in the classroom and after graduation.

PROGRAMS OF INSTRUCTION

The College’s instructional programs are organized and administered through four
schools: the School of Arts and Sciences, the Bill and Vieve Gore School of Business, the
School of Education, and the School of Nursing and Health Science.

Each school is directed by a Dean appointed by the President & Provost of the College
and has its own faculty. Instructional programs and policies are recommended by the faculty of
each school and approved by the entire College faculty. The four academic Deans, the Provost
(who acts as Dean of the entire faculty), Associate Provost, and the Dean of Students constitute a
Council of Deans which is responsible for the day-to-day administration of the academic
programs of the College.
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As of the date of this Official Statement, the College offers the following undergraduate

programs:

e Accounting

e Anthropology

° Art

e  Arts Administration

e Aviation Studies, Management
e Bachelor of Business Admin.

e Biology

e Business

o  Chemistry

e  Chinese

e  Communication

e  Computer Science

e  Computer Information Systems

e Dance

e  Earth Systems Science
e  Economics

e  Economics Pre-Law

e  Education

e  Engineering 3-2

English
Environmental Studies
Film Studies

Finance

Fine Arts

French

Gender Studies
Geology

History

Honors Program
Human Performance and Wellness
International Business
Japanese

Justice Studies

Latin

Management
Marketing
Mathematics

Music

Neuroscience
Nursing
Paleontology
Philosophy

Physics

Psychology
Political Science
Pre Dental

Pre Law
Pre-Medical
Psychology

Public Health
Religious Studies
RN to BSN Nursing
Sociology
Spanish-Latin American Studies
Special Education
Theater Arts

Undergraduate students complete a core liberal education program and a major field of
study that incorporates liberal education goals in its curriculum. Students may also complete a
minor or participate in additional elective courses and programs.

Additionally, the College offers courses of study culminating in the following graduate

degrees:
Master of Business Administration *  Master of Education
Master of Business Administration in Technology Mgmt. ¢  Master of Arts in Teaching
Master of Science in Nursing-FNP *  Master of Profession Communication
Master of Arts in Community Leadership *  Master of Science in Nursing Education
Master of Accountancy *  Master of Science in Nurse Anesthesia
Master of Public Health *  Master of Strategic Communication
Master of Science in Mental Health Counseling *  Project-Based MBA

The academic calendar is divided into Fall and Spring Semesters, followed by a
four-week May Term and the annual commencement exercise. An eight-week undergraduate
Summer Term is also offered. The graduate degree programs for the Master of Business
Administration, Master of Education, Master of Professional Communication, and Master of
Science in Nursing hold a twelve-week Summer Term beginning in May.
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CAMPUS

THE CAMPUS

The College’s campus is situated on 27 acres in a residential area located ten minutes
from downtown Salt Lake City. The buildings on campus are well maintained with very little or
no deferred maintenance.

The flagship building of the campus, Converse Hall, was built in 1909 and renovated in
1989. It features classrooms, art studios and a media facility. Foster Hall, which was built in
1925 and fully renovated in 1994, houses the Arts & Science faculty and several special purpose
classrooms. Since 1990, the College has used funding from two major capital campaigns to
construct the Giovale Library, the Jewett Center for the Performing Arts, the Emma Eccles Jones
Conservatory, an addition to the Bill & Vieve Gore School of Business, and the [Meldrum
Science Center]; and has financed the acquisition and construction of a residential village on the
south campus consisting of three apartment-style residence halls, a three-story parking garage;
several residential properties and apartment buildings for additional student and faculty housing;
the renovation and expansion of the Eccles Ceramics Center and the Shaw Student Union
building, an 80,000 square-foot Health, Wellness, and Athletic Center that includes educational,
recreational, and athletic facilities, a covered parking structure and elevated athletic field, a 167-
bed residential facility called Westminster on the Draw, an older elementary school located close
to the campus for future development, and other campus improvements.

BOARD OF TRUSTEES, ADMINISTRATION AND FACULTY

THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES

The governance of the College is vested by law in its Board of Trustees (the “Board”),
which oversees the funds, facilities and operations of the College. The Board meets in regular
session four times a year, and at other times, as needed. The Board elects a Trustee to serve as
Chair and appoints other board officers as provided in the Bylaws. The Board also hires the
President of the College, oversees the College’s management team, manages the funds and
property of the College and determines general policy, including academic and financial policies.

There are 40 Board positions provided in the College’s governing articles, and the Board
currently consists of 27 Trustees. Additional Trustee-nominees are currently being evaluated by
the Board.

Trustees are expected to function as active members of one of the Board’s standing
committees. The standing committees of the Board are the Executive Committee, the Trustee
Development Committee, the Institutional Advancement Committee, the Resource, Planning &
Management Committee, the Institutional Planning & Effectiveness Committee, the Student
Learning Committee, the Audit Committee and the Investment Committee. These committees
meet on a regular basis and separately from the meetings of the entire Board. Trustees must be
willing to devote considerable time to the service of the College, and must be able to bring
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management talent and access to potential funding sources to the College. Trustees are also
expected to contribute financially to the operations of the College to the extent of their ability.
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The following is a list of the current Trustees of the College:

NAME

Thomas A. Ellison, Chair
William Orchow, Vice Chair

Kim T. Adamson
Hamid Adib
Jeanne Ambruster
Gretchen Anderson
Martha Felt Barton
Judith Billings
Michael Bills
James R. Clark

Curt P. Crowther
Nancy Deford
Bing L. Fang
Thomas Fey
Deanna Forbush
Robert A. Garda
Clark P. Giles
Hank Hemingway
Laura Kaiser

Brian Levin-Stankevich
Colleen Kearns McCann

Jerilyn MclIntyre
0. Wood Moyle, IV

Rev. Catherine Putnam-Netto

Robert Rendon
Pat Richards
David E. Simmons

PRINCIPAL OCCUPATION

Attorney at Law, Stoel Rives LLP
Retired President and CEO, Kennecott Minerals Co.

U.S. Marine Corps Chief Warrant Officer-5 (Retired), Utah Senior Justice Court Judge

Owner, Adib Enterprises, OAI Enterprises

CEO & Founder, The Avenues Company

Former COOQ, Franklin Templeton Bank & Trust, F.S.B
Retired President & CEO, Martha Felt Group Inc.
Retired Judge, Utah Court of Appeals

President & CEO, Tesco Williamsen, Inc.
Former Dean, Gore School of Business, Westminster College
Retired Chief Planning Officer, American Stores Co.

President and Owner, Serta Mattress Co.

Vice President, Deford Ltd; retired Superintendent, Park City School District
Retired President, AMT Labs, Inc.

President/Retired CEO, Blinkers USA, Inc.

Attorney at Law, Fox Rothschild LLP

Retired Director, McKinsey & Co.; Executive-in-Residence, Duke University
Attorney, Ray Quinney & Nebeker

President, Hemingway Enterprises, LLC

Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer, Intermountain Health Care
President, Westminster College

Associate Broker, Windermere Real Estate

Author, Former President in Higher Education

Trustee, R. Harold Burton Foundation

Pastoral Associate, Wasatch Presbyterian Church

Sr. Vice President & Community Director, Zions Bank

Retired Sr. Vice President & Regional Manager, Wells Fargo Bank

President & CEO, Simmons Media Group

Certain Transactions. Occasionally the College conducts business with entities in which
certain of the Trustees have an interest. The College believes all such transactions have been
conducted on terms at least as favorable to the College as terms available from other entities.

OFFICERS OF THE COLLEGE

The President is the principal executive officer of the College and is vested with the
responsibility for the implementation of policies adopted by the Board and for formulating and
enforcing all rules and regulations. Several vice-presidents assist the President and supervise
particular departments of the College.
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Brian Levin-Stankevich, President. Dr. Levin-Stankevich became the president of
Westminster College in July 2012. He attended Hamilton College for his undergraduate
education, and received master’s and doctoral degrees in history from the University at Buffalo
(SUNY). Prior to becoming President of the College, Levin-Stankevich served as Chancellor of
the University of Wisconsin — Eau Claire from 2006-2012. From 2005 to 2006, he served as
interim president, and then the provost of Eastern Washington University, where he had served
as vice provost, vice president, and then provost from 1995-2006. He has served on Chamber of
Commerce and Economic Development boards in Spokane and Eau Claire, and in various roles
on the United Way of Eau Claire. He has held positions in enrollment management, student
affairs, undergraduate education, as an associate dean, and as a chief academic affairs officer,
serving at the University of Buffalo, Florida Atlantic University, Eastern Washington University
and the University of Wisconsin-Eau Claire prior. He served on the NCAA Division III
Presidents’ Council and as a peer evaluator for two accrediting associations. He recently
completed a post-doctoral program at the Warrington College of Business at the University of
Florida.

President Levin-Stankevich will retire from the College following the May 30, 2015
commencement ceremony. Steve Morgan, the college’s Vice President for Institutional
Advancement and alumni relations, will serve as acting president until a formal presidential
search is concluded in the future. Morgan will begin his duties as acting president in a transition
period that begins immediately.

Stephen R. Morgan, Vice President for Institutional Advancement. Steve is a graduate of
the University of Utah with a B.S. in accounting. He is a Certified Public Accountant and
worked for Coopers & Lybrand and in a small software firm prior to his employment at the
College in 1981 as the Business Manager. From 1983 to 2007, he served as Vice President of
Administration Services and Treasurer. He provided staff support for the Finance, Investment,
and Buildings and Campus Planning Committees of the Board of Trustees, and co-chaired the
Strategic Planning Committee in 1995. In the absence of the President, Steve was the senior
executive officer of the College. In 2007, Steve took the position of Vice President of
Institutional Advancement.

Lucille H. Sansing, Interim Vice President of Academic Affairs/Provost. Lucille came to
the College in July 2014 as Interim Vice President of Academic Affairs/Provost. She attended
Bates College (Sociology), received her M.A. at the University of Virginia (Sociology and
Anthropology), and earned her Ph.D. at The George Washington University (Sociology). From
1987-1994, she was the Associate Dean of Washington College, from 1994-1997 she was the
Dean of Whitehead College at the University of Redlands, from 1997-2005 she was the Provost
of Notre Dame de Namur University. From 2005 — December 2010 (retired) she served as
President of Argosy University in the San Francisco Bay Area. Following her retirement, she
joined Trident University International from 2011-2013 as Interim Chief Academic Officer and
President/CEO. Lucille is leading the search for a permanent Vice President of Academic
Affairs/Provost for Westminster College.

John Baworowsky, Vice President for Enrollment Management. In October of 2013,
John Baworowsky, Ph.D. accepted the position of VP of Enrollment Management. John’s
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background in higher education is extensive and varied with about 29 years of enrollment
management, marketing and student life experience exclusively at private colleges and
universities. He has worked as a senior enrollment management consultant for Noel-Levitz for
14 years and has developed significant skills in strategic planning, data analysis, and financial
aid. John contributes as a columnist for publications in higher education. John holds a bachelor
of science in Biology from Loyola University, a Master of Science Education — College Student
Personnel from University of Miami and Doctor of Philosophy — Higher Education
Administration from Saint Louis University.

Curtis Ryan, Vice President of Finance and Administration. Curtis is a graduate of the
University of Utah with a B.A. in accounting. He is a Certified Public Accountant and worked
for the national accounting firm, Coopers & Lybrand, for over five years prior to his employment
at the College in 1992. While in public accounting, he specialized in higher education, mining,
retail, investment and governmental industry clients. At Westminster College, Curtis supervises
the administrative business office, human resources, campus facilities and plant, conferencing,
risk management, auxiliary services and endowment management. He is active in local non-
profit organizations and currently serves on the Board of the Utah Parent Center a non-profit
organization that supports parents who have children with disabilities.

FACULTY AND EMPLOYEES

The College currently employs 261 full-time equivalent staff in administrative and
support positions and 158 full-time equivalent faculty. Approximately 83% percent of the
faculty hold a doctorate degree or otherwise hold the highest degree available in their field.
Among the members of the faculty are published writers, active scholars and many who left
successful professional careers in order to teach. The College does not offer tenure to its faculty.
Instead, the College enters into employment contracts of one to five years with its faculty in
order to balance continuity within academic departments with flexibility in the College’s hiring
decisions. With the exception of certain key senior executive officers, other employees at the
College are “at will” employees. These policies provide flexibility to management to cope with
budgetary needs in payroll.

For a description of the College’s retirement plan, see Note K to the Audited Financial
Statements of the College for the Fiscal Years Ended June 30, 2014 and 2013 included in this
Official Statement as APPENDIX B.

STUDENT BODY

GENERAL

The College seeks students from a variety of educational, ethnic, and religious
backgrounds and experiences. Students who have graduated from an accredited high school or
its equivalent and beyond are invited to apply for admission. All applicants are reviewed on an
individual basis with emphasis placed on general academic performance and evidence of ability
to accomplish college work.
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The College strives to offer a more personalized educational experience than the larger
state-run institutions. Since many local students looking for the small liberal arts college
experience have historically looked to colleges in other locations, the College is focusing its
recruiting and admissions efforts at this group of students by providing an enlarged and
improved campus living experience at the College through new and modernized facilities,
intercollegiate and intramural athletic programs and various social and cultural on-campus
activities.

The College hopes to increase its visibility and reputation in the intermountain region by
more aggressive out-of-state recruiting. The College’s relatively low tuition rates give the
College an advantage in recruiting out-of-state students.

The College has approximately 2,989 registered students, including both traditional and
nontraditional students, both full-time and part-time students, and both undergraduate and
graduate students.

ADMISSIONS, ENROLLMENT AND DEGREES CONFERRED

The following tables set forth information concerning the admissions results of the
College during the last five years. For first year and transfer undergraduate students, the ACT
composite scores for incoming students as well as student applications, admissions and
enrollment figures are provided for the fall semester of the last five years. The same information
is presented for graduate students, except that ACT scores are not provided:

FIRST YEAR AND TRANSFER STUDENT ADMISSIONS

NUMBER OF
% OF ADMITTED MATRICULATIONS
FALL MEDIAN ACT APPLICATIONS ADMITTED APPLICANTS STUDENTS (% OF
SEMESTER SCORE RECEIVED STUDENTS ADMITTED ENROLLED ADMISSIONS)
2014 24.6 3,002 2,100 70 712 34
2013 24.7 3,282 2,108 64 649 31
2012 244 4,189 2,894 69 733 25
2011 24.8 3914 2,726 70 786 29
2010 245 2497 1,956 78 825 42
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FALL
SEMESTER

2014
2013
2012
2011
2010

APPLICATIONS
RECEIVED

474
578
625
611
609

GRADUATE SCHOOL STUDENT ADMISSIONS

% OF ADMITTED

ADMITTED APPLICANTS STUDENTS

STUDENTS ADMITTED ENROLLED
275 58 232
286 50 225
327 52 270
349 57 263
347 57 267

MATRICULATIONS

(% OF

ADMISSIONS)*

84
79
83
75
77

TOTAL
(FULL-TIME
EQUIVALENT)

642
708
778
776
747

The following table shows the total number of students enrolled (based on a head-count
of students and on full-time equivalents) at the College during the fall semesters of the academic
years shown:

FALL HEAD-
SEMESTER COUNT
2014 2,989
2013 3,114
2012 3,359
2011 3,359
2010 3,266

TOTAL ENROLLMENT

UNDERGRADUATE GRADUATE

()] (€))

STUDENTS STUDENTS
75% 25%
74 26

72 28

72 28

72 28

)]
@)

3

Undergraduate and graduate students as a percentage of Headcount.
“Full-Time Equivalent” is calculated by dividing the total number of enrolled credit hours by the number of
credit hours that constitutes a full course load, adjusted to ensure that students taking more than a full course
load are not counted as more than a single full-time equivalent.

Undergraduate and Graduate students as a percentage of Full-Time Equivalent.
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UNDER-
FULL-TIME GRADUATE
EQUIVALENT(Z)
2,779 77%
2,925 76
3,116 75
3,149 75
3,030 75

GRADUATE
3

23%
24
25
25
25



STUDENT-FACULTY RATIO

The College has maintained an average student-to-faculty ratio of approximately 10 to 1
over the past five years.

DEGREES CONFERRED
DEGREE 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
Bachelor of Arts 191 157 182 152 149
Bachelor of Business Administration 16 26 37 20 2
Bachelor of Fine Arts 15 13 5 10 4
Bachelor of Science 353 307 294 294 303
Master of Education 22 22 16 16 15
Master of Arts in Teaching 62 63 54 54 49
Master of Arts in Community Leadership 18 24 12 12 0
Master of Accountancy 26 14 13 13 6
Master of Business Administration 191 190 169 169 190
Master of Professional Communication 12 20 22 22 15
Master of Science in Professional Counseling 9 12 11 11 10
Master of Science in Nursing 16 15 16 16 14
Master of Science in Nursing Education 0 6 8 8 8
Master of Science in Nurse Anesthesia 18 15 14 14 14
Master of Public Health 18 13 15 15 13
Master of Strategic Communication 7 0 0 0 0
Post-baccalaurate Certificates 54 48 72 72 97
TOTAL: 1,028 945 940 898 889
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STUDENT FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE

Financial assistance at the College is generally awarded in the form of grants,
scholarships, loans and campus employment opportunities. The following table sets forth the
sources for financial assistance and amount provided by each source for the fiscal year ended

June 30, 2014:

SOURCES OF FUNDS: AMOUNT
U.S. DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION*
Federal Family Education Program Loans $20,410,743
Perkins Loan Program 635,777
Pell Grants 2.482,157
College Work-Study 361,860
Supplemental Education Opportunity Grants 217311
Subtotal $24,107,848
STATE FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE
T.H. Bell $58.,000
Utah Higher Education Assistance Authority 19.900
Subtotal $77.,900
WESTMINSTER COLLEGE
Funds from the College and Discounts $29,522,104
Endowment Funds 1,016,236
Private Contributions 869.024
Subtotal $31.407.364
TOTAL STUDENT FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE $55,593,112

Includes any matching contributions from the College.

Approximately 2,948 students, representing 95% of students at the College, received
financial assistance during academic year 2013-2014. The average undergraduate tuition
discount for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2014 was 42.5%. No assurance, however, can be
given that the level of assistance available in the past will continue.

Competition for Students. Students wishing to study in Utah must choose between the
very different educational opportunities presented by the College and the larger universities in
the state system including the University of Utah, Weber State University, Utah State University,
Utah Valley University, Southern Utah University, or Brigham Young University, a large,
private university in Provo, Utah, which is owned and operated by the Church of Jesus Christ of
Latter-day Saints.

Students wishing to study in the Intermountain West at a small institution with liberal arts

characteristics have only a handful of institutions to choose from besides the College.
Institutions that attract students of a demographic similar to those attending the College are

A-13



Lewis & Clark College, Seattle University, University of Puget Sound, Pacific University,
Carroll College and Albertsons College.

The College’s tuition is approximately 3% lower than the other small private colleges
nationally. See “COMPARATIVE TUITIONS” below.

The College has worked to increase the number of applications from local students and
students from the western United States, including through focused recruiting efforts in key
metropolitan areas and special efforts to connect with high school guidance counselors in the
western states.

FINANCIAL INFORMATION
GENERAL

Net assets held by the College, whether from operating revenues, donations or investment
earnings, are classified in the Unrestricted, the Temporarily Restricted, or the Permanently
Restricted net asset accounts, depending on the nature of the funds and the circumstances under
which the College received the funds. The operating revenues for the College are derived from
tuition and fees, government grants, gifts and grants, investment and other income, auxiliary
enterprises revenue, and endowment assets released from restriction. All financial information is
based on accrual basis accounting.

THE BUDGET

The College operates under a ten-year financial planning model. From the ten-year
financial planning model, a budget model is prepared annually to forecast income and expenses
for the current one-year period. The Resource Planning & Management, Investment and Audit
Committees of the Board of Trustees oversee all investments, audits, and budgets of the College.
The budget for each fiscal year is prepared by the administration and adopted by the Board on or
before March 31 of the preceding fiscal year, at which time tuition rates and fees, and room and
board charges are ratified.

CURRENT AND HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The following two tables show selected summary financial information for the College
for fiscal years 2010 through 2014. Additional financial information for the College is included
in the Audited Financial Statements appended to this Official Statement as “APPENDIX B —
Audited Financial Statements of the College for the Fiscal Years Ended June 30, 2014 and
2013
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Revenues, gains and other support:
Tuition and fees
Less scholarships
Net tuition and fees
Contributions
Income on investments
Net realized gains on investments
Net unrealized gains on investments
Net gain (loss) on disposal of assets
Federal grants and contracts
State grants and contracts
Private grants and contracts
Sales and service of auxiliary enterprises
Other
Total revenues, gains and other support
Expenses:
Instruction
Public service
Academic support
Student services
Institutional support
Auxiliary enterprises
Total expenses
Increase in net assets
Net assets at beginning of year

Net assets at end of year

WESTMINSTER COLLEGE
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

Unaudited
Fiscal Years Ended June 30,
2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
$ 81,447,102 $ 80915549  $80,290,674 $ 74344576 $ 67.363,640
28441334 28225419 27.429.063 25.215.100 21479.148
53,005,768 52,690,130 52,861,611 49,129476 45,884,492
6,970,822 4,182,798 6,396,703 4,267,002 9,492,014
5,162 357,092 408,932 788,738 912,988
687,543 8,654,258 899,462 2,424 827 805,647
8,654,568 (3,080,179) (3,218,575) 6,395,233 4,406,783
(355) (3,048) (35,101) 4321 (1,729)
886,034 740,659 847,614 1,173,810 2,060,364
127,327 156,202 138,760 312,611 323319
111,391 - - - -
4,573,362 4,885,622 4,486,484 4,158,934 4,271,749
2.346.120 2.123.141 2079407 1.868.161 1.473.805
77.367.742 70.706.675 64.865.297 70.523.113 69.629.432
31,603,071 30,657,553 28,499,634 26,987,963 25,112,639
2,867 10,158 5,136 6,380 6,295
9,910,133 9,783,095 9,288,071 8,530,635 7487431
12,248,532 12,289,073 11,929,612 11,370,717 10,812,514
11,301,083 11,012,395 11,500,462 11,144,860 10,487,263
2.873.507 2.986.688 2.827.093 2.660.214 2.598.554
67.939.193 66.738.962 64.050.008 60.700.769 56.504.969
9,428,549 3,967,713 815,289 9,822,344 13,124,736
139,243 .989 135.276.276 134.460.987 124,638,643  111.513.907
$148,672,538 $139,243989  $135276276  $134.460987 $124,638,643
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WESTMINSTER COLLEGE
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

ASSETS

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Receivables:

Student receivables

Contributions receivable, net

Loans receivable

Other

Total receivables

Other Assets
Investments
Beneficial Interest in trust held by others
Investments under bond agreements
Cash and Cash equivalents designated for capital project
Investments designated for capital project
Property, Plant, and Equipment:

Land

Land improvements

Buildings and improvements

Buildings under capital lease

Furniture and equipment

Library books

Collections and works of art

Total property, plant and equipment

Less accumulated depreciation
Total property, plant, and equipment - net

TOTAL ASSETS

Unaudited
Fiscal Years Ended June 30,
2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
$20,627375  $20027.869  $17,130438  $15455266  $13,766,190
1,470,007 1,612,938 1,832,858 1,140,171 1,419,597
2,527,886 2,512,049 3976911 5512514 10,672,163
4206571 4,158213 4025211 4,106,150 4,064,113
365.607 350436 586.519 583,060 1.299.280
8.570,071 8.633.636 10.421.499 11.341.895 17.455.153
714.460 509.146 547,954 519431 531.001
58.,300.707 49915811 48.068.613 48.589.652 39.992,076
18.861.016 16.547.398 16.418.476 17.368.940 15.607.530
965.403 943,348 989971 966.305 999,802
398.536 309.965 745.980 765975 5.157.756
38.999 31.223 149.858 166.874 990,924
2,577,798 2,642,798 2,577,798 2,577,798 1,977,785
2,599,370 2,519.452 2,519,452 2,519.452 2,492.329
102,420,880 102,420,880  102420,880 102,471,880 99,629,983
14,000,000 14,000,000 - - -
18,157,140 17,841,342 16,461,610 17413218 17,208,193
2,782,352 2,855.817 2,836,174 2,914,290 2,951,864
716,570 716,570 634,570 634,570 538,610
143254110 142996859 127450484 128531208  124.798.764
(44.455474)  (40.804971)  (37.268.634) (35972987) (33.733.671)
_98.798.636  102.191.888 90.181.850 92,558,221 91.065.093
$207,275203  $199,110,284  $184,654,639  $187.732,559  $185,565,525
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LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

LIABILITIES:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Funds held on deposit for others
Deferred revenues
Annuities payable
Capital lease obligations
Notes payable
Mortgages payable
Debenture bonds payable
U.S. Government loan funds
Total liabilities
NET ASSETS:
Unrestricted:
For current operations
Designated for specific purposes
Invested in property, plant, and equipment
Funds functioning as endowment
Total unrestricted net assets
Temporarily restricted:
Unexpended funds received for restricted purposes
Term endowment funds
Accumulated/unappropriated endowment earnings
Total temporarily restricted net assets
Permanently restricted:
Loan funds
Annuity funds
Endowment funds
Total permanently restricted net assets

Total net assets

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

Fiscal Years Ended June 30,

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

$ 6649436 $ 6676876 $ 7036628 $ 6968458 $ 7,514,303
276,518 258,392 315,906 249,517 255,661
2,761,638 2,579,849 2,600,032 2,848 464 2,459,346
541,958 560,857 579,641 597,325 569,507
14,345,960 14,170,612 - - -
- - 1,715,000 4,215,000 12,215,000

3,945,569 4,378,795 4,794,238 5,014,764 3,514,765
28,165,000 29,285,000 30,355,000 31,375,000 32,360,000
1.916.586 1.955914 1981918 2.003.044 2.038.300
58,602,665 59,866,295 49,378,363 53,271,572 60,926,882
963,224 963,224 963,224 963,224 963,224
15,063,519 14,017,685 14,093,785 12,856,622 15,235,005
52,342,107 54,357 481 53,317,612 51,953.457 42975328
1.438.495 1.005.067 192.763 932.127 (107.876)
69.807.345 70.343.457 68.567.384 66.705.430 59.065.681
7,981,329 7,112,617 8,436,571 8,807 424 13,125,948
15,722,499 10,927,514 8,222,393 11,918,564 6,966,249
90.505 387.734 928.080 286.992 1.178.043
23.794.333 18.427.865 17.587.044 21.012.980 21.270.240
153,433 154 483 155,668 159,375 157,945
886,149 848,499 811,945 775 474 689,901
54031278 49.469.685 48.,154.235 45.807.728 43.454.876
55.070.860 50.472.667 49.121.848 46.742.577 44.302.722
148.672.538 139,243,989 135.276.276 134.460.987 124.638.643
$207,275203  $199,110284  $184,654,639  $187,732,559  $185.565,525
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Sources of Revenue. The major sources of revenue for the College are tuition and fees,
room and board charges and other auxiliary activities, government grants and contracts, private
gifts and grants, and endowment income and other miscellaneous income. As shown in the
Statement of Activities table above, the primary source of revenue for the College is student
tuition and fees, which are established by the Board.

Room and Board. Student housing and dining facilities are self-supporting enterprises of
the College. See “Auxiliary Enterprise Revenue” below. The College has dining facilities for
students who live in the residence halls. Students may purchase one of three meal plans. The
following tables set forth the room and board charges and undergraduate tuition for the College
for the academic years shown and comparative tuition and fee rates for such years.

STUDENT ATTENDANCE COSTS
(ANNUAL COSTS PER STUDENT FOR TWO SEMESTERS)

2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15
Tuition & Fees $25,980 $27,182 $28,210 $29,500 $30,364

Room & Board 1274 7.584 7.890 8.208 8.456
Total $33.254 $34.766 $36,100 $37.708 $38.820
COMPARATIVE TUITIONS

TUITION & FEES 2014-2015

All Four Year Private Colleges (Average) $31,231
Peer Colleges (Average) 34,208
Westminster College 30,364

Auxiliary Enterprise Revenue. The College operates certain self-supporting non-
academic enterprises, including the student housing and food services described above.
Revenues from such enterprises include residence hall and other facility rentals, foods, and other
fees and charges. As of Fall 2014 there were approximately 726 residential students living on
campus.

The following table shows the occupancy of the College’s student housing facilities for
the fall semester of the years shown below:

FALL
SEMESTER
FALL SEMESTER OCCUPANCY
2013 643
2012 655
2011 645
2010 609
2009 582
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The following sets forth the annual auxiliary revenue for the past five fiscal years.

FISCAL YEAR AUXILIARY REVENUE
2014 $4,573,362
2013 4,885,622
2012 4,486,484
2011 4,158,934
2010 4,271,749

Grants and Gifts. The College receives grants and contracts from federal, state and
private sources for scholarships and operating support. Certain of these funds are restricted in
application and cannot be used for general purposes, including loan repayments under the Loan
Agreement. In addition, the College receives general support from private sources. The table
below sets forth the total amount of all gifts received by or pledged to the College for the past
five fiscal years.

FISCAL YEAR GIFTS
2014 $8,095,574
2013 5,079,659
2012 7,383,077
2011 5,753,423
2010 11,875,697

Endowment and Similar Funds. A substantial part of the College’s total assets consists of
endowment-type funds and other similar funds. Different levels of restrictions affect these
endowment-type funds, based on the terms of the gifts from the donors. Restricted funds are
subject to the restrictions of gift instruments requiring fund principal to be invested in perpetuity
thereby leaving only the income and capital gains thereof for current expenditures.

Certain other funds functioning as endowment funds have become subject to Board
discretion as to the use thereof, but the Board has adopted policies and constraints that currently
require these funds to be held for reinvestment, with only the income and capital gains currently
available for expenditures.

Investment Policies. The College’s endowment funds are invested in accordance with
investment policies and guidelines approved by the Board. With oversight from the Investment
Committee of the Board, most of the endowment fund is managed by an investment fund
established to manage college endowments on a pooled basis, known as Agility Comprehensive
Solutions. Overall, the current asset investment mix is approximately 49% equity, 10% global
fixed income, 22% absolute return, 11% real assets, and 8% private capital. The total investment
return for fiscal year 2014 was 14.9%. This compares with 11.3% earned in fiscal year 2013 and
-3.5% in fiscal year 2012.
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The Board has full legal authority, without contractual or other legal restrictions, to direct
the expenditure on a current basis of funds functioning as endowment. To date, the Board has
declined to use funds functioning as endowment for current expenditures, and does not intend to
do so in the foreseeable future.

The Board has authorized the current expenditures of a portion of the earnings and
appreciation on the endowment funds calculated as a weighted average formula of two factors:
(i) the previous year’s total spending amount is increased by the inflation factor and then
weighted by 70%, and (i1) 5% of the endowment market value is calculated and then weighted by
30%. For fiscal year 2014, the spending rate was 4.4%.

The Investment Committee has responsibility for setting investment policy, monitoring
performance and selecting managers. This committee meets on a regular basis at least four times
during the year. The investment manager attends each committee meeting.

The table below sets forth changes in market values for the College’s endowment funds.
In fiscal year 2014, the College recorded gifts of $3,512,901, income (net of expenses) and
appreciation of $9,311,371, and took net distributions for current spending under the 4.4%
spending rate of $2,892,779.

ENDOWMENT FUND GROWTH

(MARKET VALUE)
FISCAL YEAR TEMPORARILY = PERMANENTLY
ENDED TOTAL UNRESTRICTED RESTRICTED NET  RESTRICTED
JUNE 30 ENDOWMENT NET ASSETS ASSETS NET ASSETS
2014 $72,168,926 $1.,438,495 $15,813,004 $54917,427
2013 62,638,499 1,005,067 11,315,248 50,318,184
2012 58,309.416 192,763 9,150,473 48,966,180
2011 59,720,885 932,127 12,205,556 46,583,202
2010 52,181,193 (107,876) 8,144 292 44144777
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Grant Thornton LLP

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS 155 N 400 W, Suite 500

Salt Lake City, UT 84103-1141
T 801.415.1000

F 801.322.0061
www.GrantThornton.com

Board of Trustees
Westminster College

We have audited the accompanying statements of financial position of Westminster College as
of June 30, 2014 and 2013, and the related statements of activities and cash flows for the years
then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements.

Management’s responsibility for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant
to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the
United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinion.

U.S. member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd l



Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of Westminster College as of June 30, 2014 and 2013, and the results of
its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting

principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Salt Lake City, Utah
October 106, 2014

Grant Thornton LLP 2
U.S. member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd
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Westminster College

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

June 30,
ASSETS
2014 2013
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS $ 20,627,375 $ 20,027,869
RECEIVABLES
Tuition and fees receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts
of $400,000 at June 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively 1,470,007 1,612,938
Contributions receivable, net 2,527,886 2,512,049
Loans receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of
$3,361 and $3,706 at June 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively 4,206,571 4,158,213
Other 365,607 350,436
Total receivables 8,570,071 8,633,636
OTHER ASSETS 714,460 509,146
INVESTMENTS 58,300,707 49,915,811
BENEFICIAL INTEREST IN TRUSTS 18,861,016 16,547,398
INVESTMENTS UNDER BOND AGREEMENTS 965,403 943,348
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS DESIGNATED FOR CAPITAL PROJECT 398,536 309,965
INVESTMENTS DESIGNATED FOR CAPITAL PROJECT 38,999 31,223
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Land improvements 2,599,370 2,519,452
Buildings and improvements 102,420,880 102,420,880
Buildings under capital lease 14,000,000 14,000,000
Furniture and equipment 18,157,140 17,841,342
Library books 2,782,352 2,855,817
Total depreciable assets 139,959,742 139,637,491
Accumulated depreciation (44,455,474) (40,804,971)
Net depreciable assets 95,504,268 98,832,520
TLand 2,577,798 2,642,798
Collections and works of art 716,570 716,570
Total property, plant and equipment, net 98,798,636 102,191,888
TOTAL ASSETS $ 207,275,203 $§ 199,110,284

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Westminster College
STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
June 30,

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

2014 2013

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 6,649,436 $ 6,676,876
Funds held on deposit for others 276,518 258,392
Deferred revenues 2,761,638 2,579,849
Mortgages payable 3,945,569 4,378,795
Annuities payable 541,958 560,857
Capital lease obligation 14,345,960 14,170,612
Debenture bonds payable 28,165,000 29,285,000
U.S. government grants refundable 1,916,586 1,955,914
Total liabilities 58,602,665 59,866,295

NET ASSETS

Unrestricted:
For current operations 963,224 963,224
Designated for specific purposes 15,063,519 14,017,685
Invested in property, plant and equipment 52,342,107 54,357,481
Funds functioning as endowment 1,438,495 1,005,067
Total unrestricted net assets 69,807,345 70,343,457

Temporarily restricted:
Unexpended funds received for restricted purposes 7,981,329 7,112,617
Accumulated/unapproptiated endowment earnings 15,813,004 11,315,248
Total temporarily restricted net assets 23,794,333 18,427,865
Permanently restricted:

Loan funds 153,433 154,483
Annuity funds 886,149 848,499
Endowment funds 54,031,278 49,469,685
Total permanently restricted net assets 55,070,860 50,472,667
Total net assets 148,672,538 139,243,989
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS $ 207275203 $ 199,110,284

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Westminster College

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

Year ended June 30, 2014
Temporarily Permanently
Unrestricted Restricted Restricted Total
REVENUES, GAINS AND OTHER SUPPORT
Tuition and fees $ 81,447,102 § - 3 - 3 81,447,102
Less scholarships (28,441,334) - - (28,441,334)
Net tuition and fees 53,005,768 - - 53,005,768
Contributions 1,565,440 3,365,797 2,039,585 6,970,822
Income (loss) on investments 1,647,800 (1,642,389) (249) 5,162
Net realized gain (loss) on investments 359,167 697,931 (369,555) 687,543
Net unrealized gain on investments 492,660 6,280,480 1,881,428 8,654,568
Net loss on disposal of assets (355) - - (355)
Federal grants and contracts 886,034 - - 886,034
State grants and contracts 127,327 - - 127,327
Other grants and contracts - 111,391 - 111,391
Sales and services of auxiliary enterprises 4,573,362 - - 4,573,362
Other 2,275,950 40,968 29,202 2,346,120
Total 64,933,153 8,854,178 3,580,411 77,367,742
NET ASSETS RELEASED FROM RESTRICTIONS
Satisfaction of program restrictions 2,215,018 (2,215,018) - -
Expiration of time restrictions 332,333 (332,333) - -
Change in donor restrictions (77,423) (940,359) 1,017,782 -
Total revenues, gains and other support 67,403,081 5,366,468 4,598,193 77,367,742
EXPENSES
Instruction 31,603,071 - - 31,603,071
Public service 2,867 - - 2,867
Academic support 9,910,133 - - 9,910,133
Student services 12,248,532 - - 12,248,532
Institutional support 11,301,083 - - 11,301,083
Auxiliary enterprises 2,873,507 - - 2,873,507
Total expenses 67,939,193 - - 67,939,193
CHANGE IN NET ASSETS (536,112) 5,366,468 4,598,193 9,428,549
NET ASSETS
Beginning of year 70,343,457 18,427,865 50,472,667 139,243,989
End of year $ 69,807,345 $ 237794333 § 55,070,860 $§ 148,672,538

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this financial statement.
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Westminster College
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

Year ended June 30, 2013

Temporarily Permanently
Unrestricted Restricted Restricted Total
REVENUES, GAINS AND OTHER SUPPORT
Tuition and fees $ 80,915,549 § - 8 - $ 80,915,549
Less scholarships (28,225,419) - - (28,225,419)
Net tuition and fees 52,690,130 - - 52,690,130
Contributions 1,842,785 1,617,010 723,003 4,182,798
Income (loss) on investments 1,644,931 (1,287,609) (230) 357,092
Net realized gain on investments 490,786 6,581,583 1,581,889 8,654,258
Net unrealized gain (loss) on investments 326,817 (2,298,143) (1,108,853) (3,080,179)
Net loss on disposal of assets (3,048) - - (3,048)
Federal grants and contracts 740,659 - - 740,659
State grants and contracts 156,202 - - 156,202
Sales and services of auxiliary enterprises 4,885,622 - - 4,885,622
Other 2,056,601 36,855 29,685 2,123,141
Total 64,831,485 4,649,696 1,225,494 70,706,675
NET ASSETS RELEASED FROM RESTRICTIONS
Satisfaction of program restrictions 3,183,030 (3,183,030) - -
Expiration of time restrictions 447,720 (447,720) - -
Change in donor restrictions 52,800 (178,125) 125,325 -
Total revenues, gains and other support 68,515,035 840,821 1,350,819 70,706,675
EXPENSES
Instruction 30,657,553 - - 30,657,553
Public service 10,158 - - 10,158
Academic support 9,783,095 - - 9,783,095
Student services 12,289,073 - - 12,289,073
Institutional support 11,012,395 - - 11,012,395
Auxiliary enterprises 2,986,688 - - 2,986,088
Total expenses 606,738,962 - - 606,738,962
CHANGE IN NET ASSETS 1,776,073 840,821 1,350,819 3,967,713
NET ASSETS
Beginning of year 68,567,384 17,587,044 49,121,848 135,276,276
End of year $ 70,343,457 $ 18,427,865 $ 50,472,667 $ 139,243,989

The accompanying notes are an integtral part of this financial statement.
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Westminster College

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years ended June 30,

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Change in net assets
Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to
net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation
Net loss on disposal of assets
Actuarial gain on annuity obligations
Contributions restricted for long-term investment
Net realized and unrealized gain on investments
Provision for bad debts
Interest payments on capital lease obligations
Changes in:
Receivables
Other assets
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Funds held on deposit for others
Deferred revenue

Net cash provided by operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from sale of investments
Increase (decrease) in cash designated for capital projects
Purchase of investments

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from contributions restricted for:
Investment in property, plant and equipment
Investment in endowment
Other financing activities:
Proceeds from annuities payable
Payment on notes, mortgages and debenture bonds payable

U.S. government grants refundable

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Beginning of year

End of year

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Cash paid during the year for interest
Noncash activities:
Property, plant, and equipment acquired under capital lease
Receivable related to investments
Gifts of equity securities
Gifts of other assets
Additions to property, plant, and equipment and other asset
purchases accrued in accounts payable and accrued liabilities

2014 2013
$ 9428549 § 3,967,713
4,194,790 3,967,923
355 3,048
(30,253) (30,869)
(2,041,212) (1,125,886)
(9,342,111) (5,574,079)
390,222 260,000
175,348 170,612
(701,106) 1,527,863
169,135 38,808
(27,440) (359,752)
18,126 (57,514)
181,789 (20,183)
2,416,192 2,767,684
(866,894) (1,981,009
65,000 -
3,823,611 81,509,520
(88,571) 436,015
(5,209,845) (77,746,304)
(2,276,699) 2,218,222
473,541 483,164
1,567,671 642,723
11,354 12,085
(1,553,225) (3,200,443)
(39,328) (26,004)
460,013 (2,088,475)
599,506 2,897,431
20,027,869 17,130,438
$ 20627375 $ 20,027,869
$ 2972206 § 2,621,252
$ - § 14,000,000
$ -8 9785325
$ 491388 § 1,160,442
$ 728,693 $ 415,719
$ 76,731 $ 215,499

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Westminster College
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

June 30, 2014 and 2013

NOTE A — SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1. Nature of organization

Westminster College (the “College”) is a not-for-profit, private, independent college offering both
professional and liberal arts courses of study, as well as selected graduate programs.

2. Basis of presentation

These financial statements, which are presented on the accrual basis of accounting in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles of the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”), have been
prepared to focus on 